
 

 

 

TUBAC FIRE DISTRICT       
         2227 EAST FRONTAGE ROAD 

        P.O. BOX 2881 

         TUBAC, ARIZONA 85646 

                         TELEPHONE: (520)398-2255  
 

 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
                

The Tubac Fire District Board of Directors will meet in regular session on November 29, 2023, at 1:30 pm at the Tubac 
Community Center Building located at 50 Bridge Rd in Tubac.  The following topics and any variables thereto, will be 
subject to Board consideration, discussion, approval, or other action.  All items are set for possible action.  The Board 
may consider any item on this agenda in any order and at any time during the meeting.  The Board may convene into 
Executive Session for discussion or consultation for legal advice with its attorney regarding any item on this agenda, in 
accordance with A.R.S. § 38-431.03(A)(3).   

Members of the public may attend the meeting in person, by viewing the livestream on the Tubac Fire District Facebook 
page, or by telephone by calling (346) 248-7799 and entering the Webinar ID, 827 3360 0975, if prompted. 

NOTE: Executive Sessions are CONFIDENTIAL pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-431.03(C).  Members of the public may not 
participate in Executive Sessions.  

Members of the public who are not able to attend the meeting in person, may submit comments to the Board by email. 
The emails will be read out loud during the meeting. Please email any comments to bhamric@tubacfire.org.  Emails 
must be received no later than 5pm the day before the meeting and must include your full name as well as your phone 
number (to allow District staff to contact you with any questions). 

                                                Agenda 

1. Call to order and Pledge of Allegiance  

2. Roll call of Board Members 

3. Reading of public comments submitted via email. 

4. Call to the Public: “This is the time for the public to comment on items related to the Fire District.  Members of the 
Board may not discuss items that are not on the agenda.  Therefore, the Fire Board is not permitted to discuss or 
take action on any items raised in the Call to the Public which is not on the agenda due to restrictions of the Open 
Meeting Law; however, individual Board members are permitted to respond to criticism directed to them.  
Otherwise, the Board has discretion to direct the Fire Chief to review the matter or that the matter is placed on a 
future agenda.  Those wishing to address the Board need not request permission in advance.  A member of the 
public may speak for a reasonable time as determined by the Board.  If no time is specified, the presumed time 
limit will be 3 minutes per person.  The Fire Board Chair may adjust time limitations and all individuals desiring to 
address the Fire Board will have the same opportunity.” 

5. Correspondence 

6. Report from Board Members 

7. Chief and Staff Report 

a. Operations Update 

b. Training 

c. Wildland Update 

d. Administration Update 

mailto:bhamric@tubacfire.org


 

 

8. Monthly Financial Report for October 2023.  

9. Consent Agenda 

a. Approval of minutes from October 25, 2023 

b. Approval of monthly financial reports 

10. Fire Station 1 Items  

a. Discussion only on USDA Rural application status update.  

b. Discussion only CMAR Request for Proposal Status update.   

c. Discussion only FSI tower status update.   

11. Future Agenda Items 

12. Next meeting:  December 20, 2023, at 1:30 p.m. 

13. Adjourn meeting. 

Notice of Meeting (Agenda) dated and posted November 27, 2023, by 1:30 p.m. local time by B.Hamric. 
If any disabled person needs any type of accommodation, please notify the Tubac Fire District prior to the scheduled meeting time. 



Tubac Fire District 
2227 E I-19 Frontage Rd 

Tubac, AZ 85646 
520.398.2255 

Monthly Financial Report – October 2023 

Attached are the following for your information and review: 

1. Balance Sheet as of October 31, 2023.

2. Summary of Reconciled Cash Balances as of October 31, 2023.

3. Income Statement of Revenues and Expenditures for October 2023 including budget to actual and year-to-date
balances.

4. Income vs. Expenses Graph for October 2023.

5. Fixed Asset Additions and Disposals for FY 23/24.

6. Liabilities & Securities for FY 23/24.

7. Fleet Repairs & Maintenance Expenses.

8. Station Utilities, Supplies, and Repairs & Maintenance Expenses.

9. Board Presentation.

10. Monthly Disbursement Report.

11. 12-Month Cash Flow.

Key points: 

• Total Revenue for October is $1,430,807, which is $140,021 over budget.

• Santa Cruz County Revenue for October is $1,353,824, which is over budget by $123,620.

• Non-Levy Revenue is $76,983, which is over budget by $16,401, driven by higher than anticipated Interest Income.

• Operating Expenses for October totaled $326,943, which is under budget by $31,733.

• YTD Total Revenue is $1,828,881, which is $94,680 over budget driven by lower than anticipated Wildland and
Ambulance revenue offset by higher collections on Property Tax revenue.

• YTD Operating Expense is $1,433,262 which is $28,578 under budget.

• Cash balance as of October 2023 is $6,661,744, which is $494,188 up from last year.

Please contact the Finance Director for any questions or concerns regarding this report. 

This report and the attached detail reports have been reviewed and approved by the Fire Board. 

________________________________________________ ________________________ 
Board Clerk  Date 

Page 1 of 23



Oct 31, 23 Oct 31, 22 $ Change

ASSETS
Current Assets

Checking/Savings
1132 · LGIP - State Investment Account 4,221,110.61 0.00 4,221,110.61

1072 · Bill.com Money Out Clearing 0.00 1,977.00 -1,977.00

1127 · Cash with County Treasurer 1,183,886.74 990,691.79 193,194.95

1129 · Operational 346,361.64 92,353.51 254,008.13

1130 · Savings Acct. 447,953.95 4,646,291.46 -4,198,337.51

1131 · Bond Account 462,431.35 436,242.07 26,189.28

Total Checking/Savings 6,661,744.29 6,167,555.83 494,188.46

Accounts Receivable
1245 · Property Tax Receivable 296,520.22 276,237.05 20,283.17

1200 · Wildland Receivable 0.00 83,734.10 -83,734.10

1205 · Other Receivables 400.00 18,343.25 -17,943.25

1250 · Ambulance Receivable 287,977.57 287,977.57 0.00

1251 · Allowance for Ambulance Receiv -177,869.25 -177,869.25 0.00

Total Accounts Receivable 407,028.54 488,422.72 -81,394.18

Other Current Assets
1732 · Right to Use Vehicles 59,505.76 59,505.76 0.00

1737 · Right to Use Amortization -17,039.00 -17,039.00 0.00

1270 · Lease Receivable 232,881.00 232,881.00 0.00

1400 · Prepaid Expense 13,726.08 17,377.20 -3,651.12

Total Other Current Assets 289,073.84 292,724.96 -3,651.12

Total Current Assets 7,357,846.67 6,948,703.51 409,143.16

Fixed Assets
1711 · Land - Non-depreciable 257,352.00 257,352.00 0.00

1745 · AD - Equipment -1,578,828.38 -1,578,828.38 0.00

1735 · AD - Vehicles -2,568,969.10 -2,568,969.10 0.00

1725 · AD - Building -2,060,113.30 -2,060,113.30 0.00

1730 · Vehicles 3,136,610.83 3,060,712.36 75,898.47

1740 · Equipment 2,043,507.18 1,987,714.61 55,792.57

1720 · Buildings & Improvements 6,160,318.67 6,139,995.78 20,322.89

Total Fixed Assets 5,389,877.90 5,237,863.97 152,013.93

6:25 AM Tubac Fire District

11/22/23 Balance Sheet
Accrual Basis As of October 31, 2023

Page 2 of 23



Oct 31, 23 Oct 31, 22 $ Change

Other Assets
1960 · Risk Pool Capitalization 25,881.50 25,881.50 0.00

1958 · Net PSPRS OPEB Asset TR 3 2,771.00 2,771.00 0.00

1957 · Net Pension Asset PSPRS TR3 30,542.00 30,542.00 0.00

1918 · Deferred Outflow PSPRS OPEB TR3 172.00 172.00 0.00

1917 · Deferred Outflows PSPRS TR 3 93,368.00 93,368.00 0.00

1956 · Net OPEB Asset 196,597.00 196,597.00 0.00

1916 · Deferred outflow - PSPRS OPEB 1,130.00 1,130.00 0.00

1915 · Deferred outflows - PSPRS 1,338,630.00 1,338,630.00 0.00

Total Other Assets 1,689,091.50 1,689,091.50 0.00

TOTAL ASSETS 14,436,816.07 13,875,658.98 561,157.09

LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable

2000 · Accounts Payable 110,688.34 61,420.62 49,267.72

Total Accounts Payable 110,688.34 61,420.62 49,267.72

Credit Cards
2010 · Bank of America Credit Card 525.55 3,670.05 -3,144.50

Total Credit Cards 525.55 3,670.05 -3,144.50

Other Current Liabilities
2070 · Deferred Inflows - Leases 228,480.00 228,480.00 0.00

2316 · Deferred Inflows - PSPRS OPEB 122,692.00 122,692.00 0.00

2318 · Deferred Inflows PSPRS OPEB TR3 798.00 798.00 0.00

2317 · Deferred Inflows PSPRS TR3 22,681.00 22,681.00 0.00

2230 · Accrued Interest 1,386.14 1,815.53 -429.39

2030 · Compensated Absences Payable 129,889.40 143,280.96 -13,391.56

2020 · Accrued Wages 30,484.91 21,722.67 8,762.24

2315 · Deferred Inflows - PSPRS 1,151,232.00 1,151,232.00 0.00

2100 · Payroll Liabilities -353.15 9,186.94 -9,540.09

Total Other Current Liabilities 1,687,290.30 1,701,889.10 -14,598.80

Total Current Liabilities 1,798,504.19 1,766,979.77 31,524.42

6:25 AM Tubac Fire District

11/22/23 Balance Sheet
Accrual Basis As of October 31, 2023

Page 3 of 23



Oct 31, 23 Oct 31, 22 $ Change

Long Term Liabilities
2335 · F150 Leases Payable 38,004.68 38,004.68 0.00

2330 · Ambulance Lease Payable 88,502.84 116,321.83 -27,818.99

2355 · Net Pension Liability - PSPRS 2,382,923.00 2,382,923.00 0.00

2320 · Bond Payable 2,247,641.79 2,666,560.72 -418,918.93

Total Long Term Liabilities 4,757,072.31 5,203,810.23 -446,737.92

Total Liabilities 6,555,576.50 6,970,790.00 -415,213.50

Equity
3001 · Unrestricted 5,247,428.51 4,295,177.00 952,251.51

3510 · Restricted -79,899.00 -79,899.00 0.00

3530 · Net Investment in Capital Asset 2,318,091.00 2,318,091.00 0.00

Net Income 395,619.06 371,499.98 24,119.08

Total Equity 7,881,239.57 6,904,868.98 976,370.59

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 14,436,816.07 13,875,658.98 561,157.09

6:25 AM Tubac Fire District

11/22/23 Balance Sheet
Accrual Basis As of October 31, 2023

Page 4 of 23



Tubac Fire District

Summary of Reconciled Cash Balances
Period Ending 10/31/2023

 Bank of 
America 
Checking 

 Santa Cruz 
County General 

Fund 

 Bank of 
America 
Savings 

 Santa Cruz 
County Bond 

Account 
 LGIP -  State 

Investment Account 

10/31/2023 10/31/2023 10/31/2023 10/31/2023 10/31/2023

Beginning Balance 346,001.57       23,598.10         447,938.73       292,075.30           4,201,859.30             

Cleared Transactions

Checks and Payments (338,418.94)      (23,598.10)        -                      

Deposits and Credits 339,826.47       1,183,886.74    15.22                 170,356.05           19,251.31                  

Total Cleared Transactions 1,407.53            1,160,288.64    15.22                             170,356.05                    19,251.31 

Cleared Balance 347,409.10       1,183,886.74   447,953.95       462,431.35           4,221,110.61            

Uncleared Transactions

Checks and Payments (1,047.46)          -                     -                      -                         -                              

Deposits and Credits -                     -                     -                      -                         -                              

Total Uncleared Transactions (1,047.46)          -                     -                      -                         -                              

Register Balance as of 10/31/2023 346,361.64       1,183,886.74   447,953.95       462,431.35           4,221,110.61            

For Internal Use Only Page 5 of 23



Oct 23 Budget $ Over Budget Jul - Oct 23 YTD Budget $ Over Budget Annual Budget

Ordinary Income/Expense
Income

Tax Revenues 1,353,823.81 1,230,204.00 123,619.81 1,451,074.20 1,316,856.00 134,218.20 4,024,867.00

Non Tax Levy Revenue
4200 · Miscellaneous Revenue 32,164.64 9,749.00 22,415.64 65,247.04 39,008.00 26,239.04 804,500.00

4110 · EMS Revenue 44,818.57 50,833.00 -6,014.43 164,258.57 203,336.00 -39,077.43 610,000.00

4120 · Wildland Revenue 0.00 0.00 0.00 148,301.59 175,001.00 -26,699.41 350,000.00

Total Non Tax Levy Revenue 76,983.21 60,582.00 16,401.21 377,807.20 417,345.00 -39,537.80 1,764,500.00

Total Income 1,430,807.02 1,290,786.00 140,021.02 1,828,881.40 1,734,201.00 94,680.40 5,789,367.00

Gross Profit 1,430,807.02 1,290,786.00 140,021.02 1,828,881.40 1,734,201.00 94,680.40 5,789,367.00

Expense
Personnel Expenses 264,377.79 277,072.00 -12,694.21 1,077,321.57 1,115,096.00 -37,774.43 3,370,677.00

Buildings & Land 13,415.55 19,354.00 -5,938.45 91,057.93 77,422.00 13,635.93 232,250.00

Vehicles & Equipment 20,514.65 24,450.00 -3,935.35 112,370.30 97,800.00 14,570.30 293,400.00

Communications & I.T. 5,929.94 8,665.00 -2,735.06 53,782.21 57,180.00 -3,397.79 126,000.00

Travel & Training 786.09 5,124.00 -4,337.91 21,775.94 27,291.00 -5,515.06 75,065.00

Managerial Expenses 21,918.81 24,011.00 -2,092.19 76,954.39 87,051.00 -10,096.61 227,540.00

Total Expense 326,942.83 358,676.00 -31,733.17 1,433,262.34 1,461,840.00 -28,577.66 4,324,932.00

Net Ordinary Income 1,103,864.19 932,110.00 171,754.19 395,619.06 272,361.00 123,258.06 1,464,435.00

Other Income/Expense
Other Expense

8010 · Bond Interest 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 53,045.00

Total Other Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 53,045.00

Net Other Income 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -53,045.00

Net Income 1,103,864.19 932,110.00 171,754.19 395,619.06 272,361.00 123,258.06 1,411,390.00

6:26 AM Tubac Fire District

11/22/23 Profit & Loss Budget Performance
Accrual Basis October 2023

Page 6 of 23



Income and Expense by Month
July through October 2023

Income
Expense

0

500

1,000

1,500
$ in 1,000's

Jul23 Aug23 Sep23 Oct23

Expense Summary
July through October 2023

By Account

75.17%Personnel Expenses
7.84Vehicles & Equipment
6.35Buildings & Land
5.37Managerial Expenses
3.75Communications & I.T.
1.52Travel & Training

$1,433,262.34Total

Page 7 of 23



Tubac Fire District
Fixed Assets Additions and Disposals

Recorded in fixed asset accounts:

Account Addition/(Disposal)
Number       Account name                         Amount         Description of Asset              
1720 Building & Improvements 4,660.00$                     Archaeological Survey for Station #1
1730 Vehicles 3,285.00$                     Camper Shell for Unit #1060
1740 Equipment 2,150.00$                     Camera Install at Station #4
1720 Building & Improvements 8,862.89$                     80 gallon LP gas light water heater 
1740 Equipment 51,653.20$                   Ambulance Cot for ambulance on order

TOTALS 70,611.09$                   

Prepared 11/22/2023 JVG, Finance Director.

Page 8 of 23



TUBAC FIRE DISTRICT
Liabilities and Securities - FY23/24

TOTAL INTEREST NEXT DATE OF
Description PRICE RATE PAYMENT PAYOFF

Bond $6,795,000.00 $2,247,641.79 2.36% $62,930.84 1/1/2024 7/1/2028
Lease Payable $195,131.69 $88,502.84 3.71% $32,134.52 2/1/2024 2/1/2026

Net Pension Liability - 
PSPRS $2,382,923.00

F150 Lease Payable $38,004.68

   Totals $4,757,072.31 $95,065.36

Broker CUSIP # Description Market Value
Maturity 

Date

Totals $0.00

 Net balance owed  = $4,757,072.31

LIABILITIES
CURRENT 
BALANCE

FY23/24 
PAYMENTS

SECURITIES

Page 9 of 23



Date Source Name Memo Amount

Ambulance 1058
10/09/2023 JIM CLICK FORD PERFORMED DIESEL OIL AND FILTER CHANGE AND ... 349.71

Total Ambulance 1058 349.71

Apparatus
Type 1 Engine 1044
10/23/2023 Pride Outfitting LLC Freedom 55" LED - Light bar repair 3,630.92

Total Type 1 Engine 1044 3,630.92

Total Apparatus 3,630.92

TOTAL 3,980.63

6:27 AM Tubac Fire District

11/22/23 Fleet Repairs & Maintenance
Accrual Basis October 2023

Page 10 of 23



Date Source Name Memo Amount

Stations
Station 1
10/05/2023 Waxie Sanitary Supply SKILCRAFT KITCHEN ROLL PAPER 91.35
10/10/2023 EPCOR Water bill for station 1 67.22
10/10/2023 Century Link 333219165 Internet October 2023 179.74
10/17/2023 Unisource Energy Services (Electric) 2227 E FRONTAGE RD, TUBAC, AZ 85646 Small General Service (Servi... 538.27
10/17/2023 Unisource Energy Services (Gas) 2227 E FRONTAGE RD, TUBAC, AZ 85646 Small Volume Public Authorit... 21.38
10/17/2023 Unisource Energy Services (Gas) 2227 E FRONTAGE RD, TUBAC, AZ 85646 Small Volume Public Authorit... 21.38
10/19/2023 Terminix Commercial Pest Control   Location:  Location: 2227 Interstate 19 Frontage 60.00
10/19/2023 Direct TV - 9236 TV   Current Charges for Service Period 10/18/23 - 11/17/23 162.98
10/20/2023 Simply Bits, LLC A/C #   CA24339  Hosted VoIP Bundle 873.46
10/31/2023 Waste Management of Tucson Trash Service   11/01/23-11/30/23 250.77

Total Station 1 2,266.55

Station 2
10/01/2023 Central Alarm Access Control Full Service   10/1/23 - 10/31/23 60.00
10/05/2023 Giovanni Granados Dock doors and front poles 1,200.00
10/10/2023 Century Link 333222406 Monthly internet Charges - October 2023 61.58
10/12/2023 Liberty Utilities AZ A/C 200007327162 Water Bill - Service Address: 1360 W FRONTAGE RD, RIO RICO AZ US ... 312.94
10/19/2023 Terminix Commercial Pest Control    Location: 1360 W Frontage Rd 60.00
10/20/2023 Simply Bits, LLC A/C #   CA17981  Hosted VoIP Bundle 556.89
10/23/2023 Unisource Energy Services (Electric) 563 CAMINO LITO GALINDO, RIO RICO, AZ 85648 Medium General Ser... 839.38
10/23/2023 Unisource Energy Services (Electric) 455 CAMINO AGOSTO, 1, RIO RICO, AZ 85648 Small General Service (... 174.06
10/28/2023 Direct TV - 9885 Direct TV Current Charges for Service Period 10/27/23 - 11/26/23 152.99
10/31/2023 Waste Management of Tucson Trash Service   11/01/23-11/30/23 230.22

Total Station 2 3,648.06

Station 3
10/03/2023 Direct TV - 0393 Direct TV    Current Charges for Service Period 10/2/23 - 11/1/23 170.98
10/04/2023 Empire Southwest LLC PERFORM FULL OIL SERVICE 623.30
10/06/2023 Central Alarm Access Control Full Service 115.00
10/19/2023 Terminix Commercial Pest Control   Location: 333 Camino Josefina 149.00
10/20/2023 Rio Rico Sanitation 85133 10/20/23 6 YRD ONCE A WEEK 11/01-11/30 255.00
10/20/2023 Simply Bits, LLC A/C #   CA24338  Hosted VoIP Bundle 658.42

Total Station 3 1,971.70

Station 4
10/04/2023 Empire Southwest LLC PERFORM FULL OIL SERVICE 623.30
10/06/2023 Direct TV - 2827 Direct TV    Current Charges for Service Period 10/5/23 - 11/4/23 170.98
10/19/2023 Terminix Commercial Pest Control  Location: 149 Ruta Camaron 152.00
10/20/2023 Rio Rico Sanitation 84863 10/20/23 6 YRD ONCE A WEEK 11/01-11/30 255.00
10/20/2023 Simply Bits, LLC A/C #   CA24337  Hosted VoIP Bundle 559.51
10/25/2023 Unisource Energy Services (Electric) 149 RUTA CAMARON, RIO RICO, AZ 85648 Medium General Service Ne... 1,106.05
10/30/2023 Liberty Utilities AZ A/C 200007327188 Service Address: 149 RUTA CAMARON, RIO RICO AZ US 85648-7307  ... 520.21

Total Station 4 3,387.05

Total Stations 11,273.36

TOTAL 11,273.36

6:27 AM Tubac Fire District

11/22/23 Station Utilities, Supplies, and Repairs & Maintenance
Accrual Basis October 2023

Page 11 of 23



Total
Revenue

Total
Expense Tax Levy Non-Tax Levy Personnel

Expenses
Buildings &

Land
Vehicles &
Equipment Comm & IT Travel &

Training Managerial Grant
Expense

Bond
Interest

Actual $1,430,807 $326,943 $1,353,824 $76,983 $264,378 $13,416 $20,515 $5,930 $786 $21,919 $0 $0
Budget $1,290,786 $358,676 $1,230,204 $60,582 $277,072 $19,354 $24,450 $8,665 $5,124 $24,011 $0 $0
Variance 140,021 (31,733) 123,620 16,401 (12,694) (5,938) (3,935) (2,735) (4,338) (2,092) - -

 $-

 $200,000

 $400,000

 $600,000

 $800,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,200,000

 $1,400,000

 $1,600,000

October 2023

Page 12 of 23



Total
Revenue

Total
Expense

Tax Levy
Non-Tax

Levy
Personnel
Expenses

Buildings
& Land

Vehicles &
Equipment

Comm &
IT

Travel &
Training

Managerial
Grant

Expenses
Bond

Interest
Actual 1,828,881 1,433,262 1,451,074 377,807 1,077,322 91,058 112,370 53,782 21,776 76,954 - -
Budget 1,734,201 1,461,840 1,316,856 417,345 1,115,096 77,422 97,800 57,180 27,291 87,051 - -
Prior Year 1,621,959 1,250,459 1,226,571 395,388 916,096 69,140 99,652 49,269 38,801 77,502 - -
Budget Variance 94,680 (28,578) 134,218 (39,538) (37,774) 13,636 14,570 (3,398) (5,515) (10,097) - -
% of Budget 32% 33% 36% 21% 32% 39% 38% 43% 29% 34% 0% 0%

$0
$200,000
$400,000
$600,000
$800,000

$1,000,000
$1,200,000
$1,400,000
$1,600,000
$1,800,000
$2,000,000

Fiscal Year to Date Budget to Actual

Page 13 of 23



Percentage of Expenses Year to Date

Personnel
75%

Operations
16%

Communications
4%

Managerial
5%

Page 14 of 23



$7,775,072 $7,708,103 

$6,661,744 $6,167,556 

$(6,555,577) $(6,970,790)

 $(7,500,000)

 $(2,500,000)

 $2,500,000

 $7,500,000

 $12,500,000

 $17,500,000

FYE 23/24 FYE 22/23

Other Assets Cash Total Liabilites

Cash Position

Page 15 of 23



Type Date Num Name Memo Amount Balance

1132 · LGIP - State Investment Account
Deposit 10/31/2023 Interest 19,251.31 19,251.31

Total 1132 · LGIP - State Investment Account 19,251.31 19,251.31

1072 · Bill.com Money Out Clearing
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/04/2023 Bill.com Unisource Energy Services (Gas) https://app01.us.... -22.15 -22.15
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/04/2023 Bill.com Direct TV - 9236 https://app01.us.... -162.88 -185.03
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/04/2023 Bill.com Simply Bits, LLC https://app01.us.... -556.05 -741.08
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/04/2023 Bill.com Unisource Energy Services (Electric) https://app01.us.... -738.25 -1,479.33
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/04/2023 Bill.com Terminix https://app01.us.... -152.00 -1,631.33
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/04/2023 Bill.com Terminix https://app01.us.... -60.00 -1,691.33
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/04/2023 Bill.com Simply Bits, LLC https://app01.us.... -871.90 -2,563.23
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/04/2023 Bill.com Terminix https://app01.us.... -149.00 -2,712.23
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/04/2023 Bill.com Simply Bits, LLC https://app01.us.... -558.43 -3,270.66
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/04/2023 Bill.com Terminix https://app01.us.... -60.00 -3,330.66
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/04/2023 Bill.com Liberty Utilities AZ A/C 200007327162 https://app01.us.... -312.94 -3,643.60
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/04/2023 Bill.com Simply Bits, LLC https://app01.us.... -657.22 -4,300.82
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/04/2023 Bill.com Unisource Energy Services (Gas) https://app01.us.... -22.15 -4,322.97
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/04/2023 Bill.com Rio Rico Sanitation 85133 https://app01.us.... -255.00 -4,577.97
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/04/2023 Bill.com Rio Rico Sanitation 84863 https://app01.us.... -255.00 -4,832.97
General Jour... 10/04/2023 2023-182 BILL 10/04/23 P... 6,482.97 1,650.00
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/04/2023 Bill.com BA Shields* https://app01.us.... -1,650.00 0.00
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/10/2023 Bill.com Nogales Tactical LLC* https://app01.us.... -54.30 -54.30
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/10/2023 Bill.com Nogales Tactical LLC* https://app01.us.... -157.47 -211.77
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/10/2023 Bill.com Nogales Tactical LLC* https://app01.us.... -41.27 -253.04
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/10/2023 Bill.com Direct TV - 9885 https://app01.us.... -152.99 -406.03
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/10/2023 Bill.com Pride Outfitting LLC https://app01.us.... -2,950.80 -3,356.83
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/10/2023 Bill.com Unisource Energy Services (Electric) https://app01.us.... -1,330.48 -4,687.31
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/10/2023 Bill.com Bound Tree https://app01.us.... -498.96 -5,186.27
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/10/2023 Bill.com Bound Tree https://app01.us.... -112.01 -5,298.28
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/10/2023 Bill.com Watson Chevrolet https://app01.us.... -3,925.91 -9,224.19
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/10/2023 Bill.com Nogales Tactical LLC* https://app01.us.... -145.52 -9,369.71
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/10/2023 Bill.com Unlimited Plumbing Works, LLC.* https://app01.us.... -8,862.89 -18,232.60
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/10/2023 Bill.com Unisource Energy Services (Electric) https://app01.us.... -989.68 -19,222.28
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/10/2023 Bill.com Modular Solutions https://app01.us.... -800.00 -20,022.28
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/10/2023 Bill.com Nogales Tactical LLC* https://app01.us.... -1,160.93 -21,183.21
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/10/2023 Bill.com W.W. Williams https://app01.us.... -895.12 -22,078.33
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/10/2023 Bill.com Legal Shield https://app01.us.... -182.50 -22,260.83
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/10/2023 Bill.com Lynch Construction* https://app01.us.... -7,850.00 -30,110.83

6:38 AM Tubac Fire District

11/22/23 Monthly Disbursement Report
Accrual Basis October 2023

Page 16 of 23



Type Date Num Name Memo Amount Balance

Bill Pmt -Che... 10/10/2023 Bill.com Nogales Tactical LLC* https://app01.us.... -152.04 -30,262.87
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/10/2023 Bill.com James Vincent Group https://app01.us.... -5,000.00 -35,262.87
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/10/2023 Bill.com Unisource Energy Services (Electric) https://app01.us.... -1,350.64 -36,613.51
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/10/2023 Bill.com V191 & Associates https://app01.us.... -541.67 -37,155.18
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/10/2023 Bill.com Unisource Energy Services (Electric) https://app01.us.... -206.25 -37,361.43
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/10/2023 Bill.com IFC Radios & Safety https://app01.us.... -346.76 -37,708.19
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/10/2023 Bill.com Ferno-Washington, Inc. https://app01.us.... -51,653.20 -89,361.39
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/10/2023 Bill.com Nogales Tactical LLC* https://app01.us.... -162.90 -89,524.29
General Jour... 10/10/2023 2023-185 BILL 10/10/23 P... 89,524.29 0.00
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/13/2023 Bill.com Enerspect Medical Solutions https://app01.us.... -2,589.89 -2,589.89
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/13/2023 Bill.com Waxie Sanitary Supply https://app01.us.... -91.35 -2,681.24
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/13/2023 Bill.com Voyager Fleet Systems Inc https://app01.us.... -1,236.71 -3,917.95
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/13/2023 Bill.com Verizon https://app01.us.... -1,052.98 -4,970.93
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/13/2023 Bill.com Nextrio, LLC https://app01.us.... -711.72 -5,682.65
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/13/2023 Bill.com Central Alarm https://app01.us.... -60.00 -5,742.65
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/13/2023 Bill.com Liberty Utilities AZ A/C 200007327188 https://app01.us.... -555.58 -6,298.23
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/13/2023 Bill.com JIM CLICK FORD https://app01.us.... -349.71 -6,647.94
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/13/2023 Bill.com Empire  Southwest, LLC https://app01.us.... -2,518.38 -9,166.32
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/13/2023 Bill.com Waste Management of Tucson https://app01.us.... -252.25 -9,418.57
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/13/2023 Bill.com Direct TV - 0393 https://app01.us.... -170.98 -9,589.55
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/13/2023 Bill.com Holy Cross Hospital Pharmacy https://app01.us.... -10.22 -9,599.77
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/13/2023 Bill.com Santa Cruz County Landfill https://app01.us.... -8.00 -9,607.77
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/13/2023 Bill.com Carondelet St. Mary's Hospital Pharmacy https://app01.us.... -1.44 -9,609.21
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/13/2023 Bill.com Senergy Petroleum https://app01.us.... -4,408.71 -14,017.92
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/13/2023 Bill.com Enerspect Medical Solutions https://app01.us.... -2,487.71 -16,505.63
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/13/2023 Bill.com Verizon https://app01.us.... -1,161.44 -17,667.07
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/13/2023 Bill.com Nextrio, LLC https://app01.us.... -4,661.55 -22,328.62
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/13/2023 Bill.com Giovanni Granados https://app01.us.... -575.00 -22,903.62
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/13/2023 Bill.com CenturyLink https://app01.us.... -3.83 -22,907.45
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/13/2023 Bill.com Across the Street Productions, Inc.* https://app01.us.... -1,700.00 -24,607.45
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/13/2023 Bill.com Waste Management of Tucson https://app01.us.... -235.98 -24,843.43
General Jour... 10/13/2023 2023-186 BILL 10/13/23 P... 24,843.43 0.00
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/17/2023 Bill.com Valley Imaging Solutions Inc. https://app01.us.... -137.34 -137.34
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/17/2023 Bill.com Nogales Tactical LLC* https://app01.us.... -42.35 -179.69
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/17/2023 Bill.com Nogales Tactical LLC* https://app01.us.... -167.24 -346.93
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/17/2023 Bill.com Nogales Tactical LLC* https://app01.us.... -135.75 -482.68
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/17/2023 Bill.com Nogales Tactical LLC* https://app01.us.... -156.38 -639.06
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/17/2023 Bill.com Nogales Tactical LLC* https://app01.us.... -39.10 -678.16
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/17/2023 Bill.com Nogales Tactical LLC* https://app01.us.... -43.44 -721.60
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/17/2023 Bill.com Valley Imaging Solutions Inc. https://app01.us.... -9.52 -731.12

6:38 AM Tubac Fire District

11/22/23 Monthly Disbursement Report
Accrual Basis October 2023

Page 17 of 23



Type Date Num Name Memo Amount Balance

Bill Pmt -Che... 10/17/2023 Bill.com Quill Corporation https://app01.us.... -298.45 -1,029.57
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/17/2023 Bill.com Nogales Tactical LLC* https://app01.us.... -19.01 -1,048.58
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/17/2023 Bill.com D. A. M. Specialties* https://app01.us.... -350.17 -1,398.75
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/17/2023 Bill.com Nogales Tactical LLC* https://app01.us.... -156.38 -1,555.13
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/17/2023 Bill.com Nogales Tactical LLC* https://app01.us.... -337.75 -1,892.88
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/17/2023 Bill.com Nogales Tactical LLC* https://app01.us.... -59.73 -1,952.61
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/17/2023 Bill.com Nogales Tactical LLC* https://app01.us.... -19.01 -1,971.62
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/17/2023 Bill.com Goldsmith and Mendoza PLLC https://app01.us.... -600.00 -2,571.62
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/17/2023 Bill.com Nogales Tactical LLC* https://app01.us.... -269.33 -2,840.95
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/17/2023 Bill.com Nogales Tactical LLC* https://app01.us.... -179.19 -3,020.14
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/17/2023 Bill.com Fry Fire District* https://app01.us.... -1,649.62 -4,669.76
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/17/2023 Bill.com Nogales Tactical LLC* https://app01.us.... -135.97 -4,805.73
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/17/2023 Bill.com J2 Laboratories https://app01.us.... -74.00 -4,879.73
General Jour... 10/17/2023 2023-191 BILL 10/17/23 P... 4,879.73 0.00
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/19/2023 Bill.com Banner Health Univ Med Cntr Tucson https://app01.us.... -2.80 -2.80
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/19/2023 Bill.com Bound Tree https://app01.us.... -149.23 -152.03
General Jour... 10/19/2023 2023-192 BILL 10/19/23 P... 152.03 0.00
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/25/2023 Bill.com EPCOR https://app01.us.... -67.22 -67.22
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/25/2023 Bill.com Direct TV - 2827 https://app01.us.... -170.98 -238.20
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/25/2023 Bill.com Human Resource Strategies https://app01.us.... -500.00 -738.20
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/25/2023 Bill.com Giovanni Granados https://app01.us.... -1,200.00 -1,938.20
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/25/2023 Bill.com Linde 3502 https://app01.us.... -766.01 -2,704.21
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/25/2023 Bill.com Linde 9892 https://app01.us.... -205.73 -2,909.94
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/25/2023 Bill.com Verizon https://app01.us.... -100.08 -3,010.02
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/25/2023 Bill.com Linde 8440 https://app01.us.... -1,020.06 -4,030.08
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/25/2023 Bill.com Liberty Utilities AZ A/C 200007327162 https://app01.us.... -312.94 -4,343.02
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/25/2023 Bill.com Bound Tree https://app01.us.... -15.48 -4,358.50
General Jour... 10/25/2023 2023-182 BILL 10/25/23 P... 4,358.50 0.00
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/30/2023 Bill.com Arizona Propane https://app01.us.... -533.73 -533.73
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/30/2023 Bill.com Bound Tree https://app01.us.... -453.30 -987.03
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/30/2023 Bill.com Rio Rico Sanitation 84863 https://app01.us.... -255.00 -1,242.03
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/30/2023 Bill.com Enerspect Medical Solutions https://app01.us.... -137.52 -1,379.55
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/30/2023 Bill.com Century Link 333222406 https://app01.us.... -61.58 -1,441.13
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/30/2023 Bill.com Simply Bits, LLC https://app01.us.... -873.46 -2,314.59
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/30/2023 Bill.com Century Link 333219165 https://app01.us.... -179.74 -2,494.33
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/30/2023 Bill.com Unisource Energy Services (Electric) https://app01.us.... -538.27 -3,032.60
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/30/2023 Bill.com Simply Bits, LLC https://app01.us.... -556.89 -3,589.49
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/30/2023 Bill.com Central Alarm https://app01.us.... -115.00 -3,704.49
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/30/2023 Bill.com John Schwamm https://app01.us.... -493.50 -4,197.99
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/30/2023 Bill.com Arizona Propane https://app01.us.... -924.35 -5,122.34

6:38 AM Tubac Fire District

11/22/23 Monthly Disbursement Report
Accrual Basis October 2023

Page 18 of 23



Type Date Num Name Memo Amount Balance

Bill Pmt -Che... 10/30/2023 Bill.com Rio Rico Sanitation 85133 https://app01.us.... -255.00 -5,377.34
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/30/2023 Bill.com Simply Bits, LLC https://app01.us.... -559.51 -5,936.85
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/30/2023 Bill.com Unisource Energy Services (Gas) https://app01.us.... -21.38 -5,958.23
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/30/2023 Bill.com Unisource Energy Services (Gas) https://app01.us.... -21.38 -5,979.61
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/30/2023 Bill.com Arizona Propane https://app01.us.... -1,034.52 -7,014.13
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/30/2023 Bill.com Arizona Propane https://app01.us.... -53.06 -7,067.19
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/30/2023 Bill.com Simply Bits, LLC https://app01.us.... -658.42 -7,725.61
Bill Pmt -Che... 10/30/2023 Bill.com Arizona Propane https://app01.us.... -112.85 -7,838.46
General Jour... 10/30/2023 2023-179 BILL 10/30/23 P... 7,838.46 0.00

Total 1072 · Bill.com Money Out Clearing 0.00 0.00

1127 · Cash with County Treasurer
Deposit 10/16/2023 Santa Cruz Cou... -23,598.10 -23,598.10
General Jour... 10/31/2023 2023-184 to record prop ta... 1,183,864.79 1,160,266.69
Deposit 10/31/2023 Interest 21.95 1,160,288.64

Total 1127 · Cash with County Treasurer 1,160,288.64 1,160,288.64

1129 · Operational
Deposit 10/01/2023 Deposit 1,250.00 1,250.00
Deposit 10/02/2023 Deposit 4,238.86 5,488.86
Check 10/02/2023 ACH Bank of America Merchant Fees -357.04 5,131.82
Check 10/03/2023 26010 June Behrend Overpayment R... -100.00 5,031.82
Check 10/03/2023 26011 Security Benefit Pay Period Endi... -350.00 4,681.82
Check 10/03/2023 26012 Green Valley F.F.A. Pay Period Endi... -360.00 4,321.82
Deposit 10/03/2023 Deposit 250.00 4,571.82
Deposit 10/03/2023 Deposit 3,893.28 8,465.10
Deposit 10/03/2023 Deposit 479.08 8,944.18
Deposit 10/04/2023 Deposit 1,492.05 10,436.23
General Jour... 10/04/2023 2023-182 BILL 10/04/23 P... -6,482.97 3,953.26
Deposit 10/04/2023 Deposit 94,730.89 98,684.15
Deposit 10/04/2023 Deposit 280.09 98,964.24
Check 10/05/2023 26013 Us Postal Service P.O Box 2881 -118.00 98,846.24
Deposit 10/05/2023 Deposit 161.08 99,007.32
Deposit 10/05/2023 Deposit 1,147.95 100,155.27
General Jour... 10/06/2023 2023-184 -56,704.32 43,450.95
General Jour... 10/06/2023 2023-184 -604.25 42,846.70
General Jour... 10/06/2023 2023-184 -9,996.88 32,849.82
General Jour... 10/06/2023 2023-184 -384.80 32,465.02

6:38 AM Tubac Fire District

11/22/23 Monthly Disbursement Report
Accrual Basis October 2023

Page 19 of 23



Type Date Num Name Memo Amount Balance

General Jour... 10/06/2023 2023-184 -581.15 31,883.87
Check 10/06/2023 ACH Nationwide Retirement Solutions Pay Period Endi... -1,063.21 30,820.66
Check 10/06/2023 ACH Nationwide Retirement Solutions Pay Period Endi... -1,749.72 29,070.94
Deposit 10/06/2023 Deposit 898.83 29,969.77
Check 10/06/2023 EFT Bill.com -356.10 29,613.67
General Jour... 10/10/2023 2023-185 BILL 10/10/23 P... -89,524.29 -59,910.62
Check 10/10/2023 ACH PUBLIC SAFETY PERSONAL RETIREME... Pay Period Endi... -18,762.28 -78,672.90
Deposit 10/10/2023 Deposit 100.00 -78,572.90
Deposit 10/10/2023 Deposit 164,157.27 85,584.37
Deposit 10/10/2023 Deposit 90.00 85,674.37
Deposit 10/10/2023 Deposit 50.00 85,724.37
Deposit 10/10/2023 Deposit 5,028.01 90,752.38
Check 10/11/2023 ACH Health Equity Monthly Fees for... -32.50 90,719.88
Deposit 10/11/2023 Deposit 2,154.29 92,874.17
Deposit 10/11/2023 Deposit 1,727.91 94,602.08
Deposit 10/11/2023 Deposit 917.82 95,519.90
Deposit 10/11/2023 Deposit 409.28 95,929.18
Deposit 10/11/2023 Interest 13.80 95,942.98
Deposit 10/12/2023 Deposit 1,442.97 97,385.95
General Jour... 10/13/2023 2023-186 BILL 10/13/23 P... -24,843.43 72,542.52
Deposit 10/13/2023 Deposit 2,346.19 74,888.71
Deposit 10/16/2023 Deposit 23,598.10 98,486.81
Deposit 10/16/2023 Deposit 523.12 99,009.93
General Jour... 10/16/2023 2023-178 -42.93 98,967.00
Deposit 10/16/2023 Deposit 960.27 99,927.27
Check 10/16/2023 Service Charge -404.70 99,522.57
Deposit 10/17/2023 Deposit 20.00 99,542.57
Check 10/17/2023 26014 Security Benefit Pay Period Endi... -100.00 99,442.57
Check 10/17/2023 26015 Green Valley F.F.A. Pay Period Endi... -360.00 99,082.57
General Jour... 10/17/2023 2023-191 BILL 10/17/23 P... -4,879.73 94,202.84
Deposit 10/17/2023 Deposit 1,938.80 96,141.64
Deposit 10/17/2023 Deposit 655.01 96,796.65
Deposit 10/17/2023 Deposit 186.78 96,983.43
Deposit 10/18/2023 Deposit 178.30 97,161.73
Deposit 10/18/2023 Deposit 932.85 98,094.58
Deposit 10/18/2023 Deposit 720.86 98,815.44
Check 10/18/2023 ACH Aflac Invoice: 348284 -216.72 98,598.72
General Jour... 10/19/2023 2023-192 BILL 10/19/23 P... -152.03 98,446.69
Deposit 10/19/2023 Deposit 1,149.78 99,596.47
Deposit 10/19/2023 Deposit 100.00 99,696.47

6:38 AM Tubac Fire District

11/22/23 Monthly Disbursement Report
Accrual Basis October 2023

Page 20 of 23



Type Date Num Name Memo Amount Balance

Deposit 10/19/2023 Deposit 115.92 99,812.39
Deposit 10/19/2023 Deposit 1,509.56 101,321.95
General Jour... 10/20/2023 2023-177 -59,446.23 41,875.72
General Jour... 10/20/2023 2023-177 -604.25 41,271.47
General Jour... 10/20/2023 2023-177 -11,193.41 30,078.06
General Jour... 10/20/2023 2023-177 -390.60 29,687.46
General Jour... 10/20/2023 2023-177 -581.15 29,106.31
Check 10/20/2023 ACH Enterprise FM Trust Invoice#FBN486... -2,276.37 26,829.94
Check 10/20/2023 ACH Nationwide Retirement Solutions Payperiod Endin... -1,063.21 25,766.73
Check 10/20/2023 ACH Nationwide Retirement Solutions Payperiod Endin... -2,029.28 23,737.45
Deposit 10/20/2023 Deposit 57.96 23,795.41
Check 10/20/2023 ACH Bank of America Closing Stateme... -6,280.90 17,514.51
General Jour... 10/20/2023 2023-186 -43.77 17,470.74
General Jour... 10/20/2023 2023-186 -431.62 17,039.12
General Jour... 10/20/2023 2023-186 -1,344.67 15,694.45
General Jour... 10/20/2023 2023-187 1,344.67 17,039.12
General Jour... 10/20/2023 2023-187 198.11 17,237.23
Deposit 10/23/2023 Deposit 6,653.44 23,890.67
Check 10/24/2023 ACH PUBLIC SAFETY PERSONAL RETIREME... Payperiod Endin... -19,705.47 4,185.20
Deposit 10/24/2023 Deposit 1,102.94 5,288.14
Deposit 10/24/2023 Deposit 2,149.96 7,438.10
Deposit 10/25/2023 Deposit 1,495.72 8,933.82
Deposit 10/25/2023 Deposit 572.79 9,506.61
General Jour... 10/25/2023 2023-182 BILL 10/25/23 P... -4,358.50 5,148.11
Deposit 10/26/2023 Deposit 250.00 5,398.11
Deposit 10/26/2023 Deposit 127.01 5,525.12
Deposit 10/26/2023 Deposit 1,799.60 7,324.72
Deposit 10/27/2023 Deposit 1,421.37 8,746.09
Deposit 10/27/2023 Deposit 1,166.34 9,912.43
Deposit 10/30/2023 Deposit 50.00 9,962.43
General Jour... 10/30/2023 2023-179 BILL 10/30/23 P... -7,838.46 2,123.97
Check 10/31/2023 26016 Security Benefit Pay Period Endi... -100.00 2,023.97
Check 10/31/2023 26017 Green Valley F.F.A. Pay Period Endi... -360.00 1,663.97
Deposit 10/31/2023 Deposit 428.06 2,092.03
Deposit 10/31/2023 Deposit 1,159.50 3,251.53

Total 1129 · Operational 3,251.53 3,251.53

6:38 AM Tubac Fire District

11/22/23 Monthly Disbursement Report
Accrual Basis October 2023

Page 21 of 23



Type Date Num Name Memo Amount Balance

1130 · Savings Acct.
Deposit 10/31/2023 Interest 15.22 15.22

Total 1130 · Savings Acct. 15.22 15.22

1131 · Bond Account
General Jour... 10/31/2023 2023-185 to record Levied ... 169,959.02 169,959.02
Deposit 10/31/2023 Interest 397.03 170,356.05

Total 1131 · Bond Account 170,356.05 170,356.05

TOTAL 1,353,162.75 1,353,162.75

6:38 AM Tubac Fire District

11/22/23 Monthly Disbursement Report
Accrual Basis October 2023

Page 22 of 23



Tubac Fire District

Twelve-Month Cash Flow
Fiscal Year

Begins:
Jul-23

Beginning Jul-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Nov-23 Dec-23 Jan-24 Feb-24 Mar-24 Apr-24 May-24 Jun-24
Monthly
Average Overview

Cash Summary
Cash on Hand 
(beginning of month)

6,107,461 6,107,461 5,766,718 5,616,959 5,308,149 6,661,744 6,753,707 7,059,029 6,261,883 6,105,553 5,996,862 7,262,544 7,124,644 6,335,438

Cash Available (on 
hand + receipts, before 
cash out) 

6,107,461 6,179,058 5,911,755 5,707,836 6,998,319 7,126,340 7,412,275 7,350,758 6,413,092 6,299,589 7,652,180 7,501,735 7,390,945 6,828,657

Cash Position (end of 
month)

6,107,461 5,766,718 5,616,959 5,308,149 6,661,744 6,753,707 7,059,029 6,261,883 6,105,553 5,996,862 7,262,544 7,124,644 6,513,969 6,369,314

Line of Credit Available 1,000,000      1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000

Cash Receipts
Tax Levy Revenue 16,835 53,183 27,232 1,353,824 404,014 597,986 231,147 90,627 133,454 856,403 120,276 139,886 335,406
Other Cash Inflows 54,762 91,854 63,644 336,347 60,582 60,582 60,582 60,582 60,582 798,915 118,915 126,415 157,814
Line of Credit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total Cash Receipts 71,597 145,037 90,877 1,690,171 464,596 658,568 291,729 151,209 194,036 1,655,318 239,191 266,301 493,219

Cash Paid Out
Disbursements 412,339 294,797 399,687 336,575 372,633 353,246 1,088,875 307,539 302,727 389,636 377,091 876,976 459,343
Repayment of LOC 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total Cash Paid Out 412,339 294,797 399,687 336,575 372,633 353,246 1,088,875 307,539 302,727 389,636 377,091 876,976 459,343

(Actual) (Actual) (Actual) (Actual) (Budget) (Budget) (Budget) (Budget) (Budget) (Budget) (Budget) (Budget)

Page 23 of 23



Staff  Report

Tubac Fire Board

November 2023

Tubac Fire District is committed to the safety of  our community through the delivery 

of  fire suppression, medical services, and public education.



October Emergency Responses

• EMS 91 (50 transports, 1 transfer of care to another EMS agency)

• Fire 12

• Public Assist 68

• Total Calls 171



October Emergency Responses By Station 

Station 1 72

Station 2 51

Station 3 19

Station 4 29



Annual Emergency Responses

Calls by 

Month

2020 2021 2022 2023

January 113 126 116 110

Febuary 117 113 115 128

March 101 132 124 125

April 96 114 131 145

May 117 137 160 142

June 133 155 142 157

July 144 125

                          

141 162

August 174 129 133 155

September 141 151

                      

138 157

October 125 106 132 171

November 129 141 101

December 108 126

                      

100

Total 1498 1555

                    

1533



A Shift 61

B Shift 56

C shift 52 

Incidents by shift

• A Shift

• B Shift

• C Shift



October Ambulance Transports by Destination 

• Banner University Main Campus 9

• Banner University South Campus 0

• Holy Cross 21

• Northwest Medical Center Oro Valley 1

• Northwest Sahuarita 13

• St Mary’s Hospital 4

• St. Joseph’s Hospital 1

• Tucson Medical 1

• Veterans Affairs 1



October Trends 

• Public Assists calls 

• Move up Assignments to 

Green Valley Fire Dist.

• Falls



Significant Calls

• A shift responded to a choking on a 2-year-old 

infant; arrived in time and was able to remove the 

object. Patient was transported for a welfare check to 

a local hospital. 

• A shift responded to a diabetic emergency, patient in 

severe hypoglycemia. Crew was able to reverse the 

hypoglycemia with 10% Dextrose diluted in 250ml 

of  Normal Saline. Patient transported to a local 

hospital

• C shift responded to a patient with a cardiac 

dysrhythmia. Patient was flown out to a Tucson 

hospital for definitive care.  

• B Shift Responded to a Cement truck that had tipped 

on its side. No significant injuries were reported. 



Training
Rope Rescue

Hazardous Materials (3 Firefighters 

began the 200hr course)

Search and Rescue

Physical Fitness training



Public Education/Fire Prevention
• Tubac Fire participated in the Gear Up and Thrive event in Nogales. Various 

agencies from Santa Cruz County participated, setting up booths and offering 

information on Job opportunities, volunteer opportunities, or health and 

wellness information. 

• Tubac presented fire prevention tips to Sopori school kids

• Tubac Fire hosted a fire prevention workshop at the Tubac Community Center

• Mountain View Elementary School Kinder Garden class visited our station 2



Fire Prevention and CPR Classes



Plans Review & Inspections



Maintenance Requests
Fire Loss Due To Incident



 
 

 

November 21, 2023 

 
NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR STATEMENT OF 

QUALIFICATIONS (RFQ) FOR CONSTRUCTION 
MANAGER AT RISK FOR TUBAC FIRE DISTRICT FIRE 

STATION #1 CONSTRUCTION PROJECT 

 
 

ISSUED BY 
TUBAC FIRE DISTRICT 

2227 EAST FRONTAGE ROAD 
TUBAC, AZ 85646 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



1 
 

SECTION I – PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

The Tubac Fire District (TFD) is accepting Statements of Qualifications from qualified Construction Managers 
at Risk (CMAR) to provide complete construction services for the TFD Fire Station #1 construction Project. 
The Project site is located at 2227 East Frontage Road, Tubac, AZ 85646 (parcel number 112-15-001C). The 
District is seeking licensed contractors with background and experience constructing fire station facilities. The 
CMAR shall understand the special concerns of fire station facilities, the challenges associated with replacing 
the existing facility located at 2227 East Frontage Road (“Facility”), and any related offsite improvements. 
The Project is currently being designed by Breckenridge Group and will be developed with the goal of using 
a team approach to identify options and any available cost/benefit measures that will produce the best 
attainable facility. The initial District budget range for this Project is approximately $5.5 million. 

 

The District intends to promptly and expeditiously pursue implementation of this Project and, toward that end, 
is taking all necessary steps to finalize financing and prepare to break ground as soon as possible. 

 
SECTION II – BACKGROUND 

 

The TFD will work with our architect, Breckenridge Group, and the selected CMAR to design and construct 
an approximately 9,000 square foot, 3-apparatus bay fire station, to be known as Tubac Fire Station #1. 

 

In 2022, TFD was informed that it would receive congressionally directed funding of $2 million for a new Fire 
Station facility to replace Station #1 in Tubac. District staff has been working through the grant entitlement 
process with the U.S. Department of Agriculture, Rural Development, Community Facilities grant managers. 
Additionally, the Fire District Board unanimously decided to use the existing property at 2227 East Frontage 
Road in Tubac for the new station. This will necessitate relocating essential administrative and operations 
duties during construction activities. 

 

The TFD and Breckenridge Group will work with the CMAR to determine the guaranteed maximum price 
(GMP) and final phasing of the construction. 

 

SECTION III - SITE CHARACTERISTICS 
 

The existing site for Fire Station #1 is approximately 1.165 acres and located on the east side of the East 
Frontage Road about 950 feet north of the main entrance to the village of Tubac. The existing site is currently 
developed with aging fire station facilities including equipment bays, an administration area, and a 
manufactured home being used for crew quarters. Drainage generally sheet flows to the east. The site has 
direct access to the East Frontage Road, which is part of the Arizona Department of Transportation (ADOT) 
system. 

 
SECTION IV - SCOPE OF WORK – (see Exhibit A for Conceptual Plan) 

Preconstruction phase services by CMAR may include the following: 
 

• Provide detailed cost estimating and value engineering options including alternate systems evaluation 
and constructability studies; 

• Provide design assistance, as required and/or requested by Breckenridge Group; 

• Provide Project planning and scheduling; 

• Provide long-lead procurement strategies; 

• Secure building and related permits, as required; 

• Provide complete Guaranteed Maximum Price proposals with assumptions and clarifications to TFD 
contact; 



2 
 

• Incorporate TFD’s interest for quality, safety, and environmental factors; 

• Coordinate with utility companies and the District for on-site and offsite utilities, including wastewater; 

• Coordinate with the ADOT to ensure on-going and improved, as necessary, access to the East Frontage 
Road. 

• Assist in determining the ultimate Project construction phasing, if appropriate. 
 

SECTION V – EVALUATION CRITERIA 

Qualified firms will submit Statements of Qualifications for review by the District’s selection panel. Evaluation 
of the submittals will be based on the following: 

 

• General Information Max. 100 Points 

• Experience and qualifications of the firm/team Max. 150 Points 

• Experience of key personnel Max. 250 Points 

• Subcontractor Pre-Selection Plan Max.  50 Points 

• Understanding and Approach Max. 350 Points 

• Overall Evaluation Max. 100 Points 
Total Max. 1000 Points 

 
The Construction Manager at Risk will be selected through a qualifications-based selection process. 
Respondents interested in providing CMAR services must submit a Statement of Qualifications (SOQ) that 
addresses the following areas: 

 

A. General Information (100 points) 
 

1. Provide a general description of the firm. Explain the legal organization of the proposed firm. Provide an 
organization chart showing key personnel. 

 

2. Provide the following information: 
 

a. List the Arizona contractor licenses held by the firm/team and the key personnel who will be 
assigned to this Project. Provide the contractor’s license number and explain if held by an individual 
or the firm. 

b. Identify any contract or subcontract held by the firm, which has been terminated within the last five 
years. 

c. Identify any claims arising from a contract, which resulted in litigation or arbitration within the last 
three years. Briefly describe the circumstances and the outcomes. 

d. If selected as a finalist for this Project, you will be required to provide a statement from an “A -” or 
better surety company describing the Company’s bonding capacity. 

 

B. Experience and qualifications of the firm/team (150 points) 
 

1. Identify at least three comparable fire station or similar projects participated in or completed by the firm 
within the past ten years. Emphasize construction and CMAR services. 

 

2. For each project identified, provide the following: 
 

a. Description of the project 
b. Role of the firm/team 
c. Project’s original contracted construction cost and final construction cost 

d. Construction dates 



3 
 

e. Project Owner 
f. Reference information (two current names with telephone numbers and email per project) 

g. Experience of the Team working together on similar projects 
 

C. Experience of key personnel to be assigned to this Project (250 points) 
 

1. Identify all key personnel for the proposed Project team. For each key person identified, list their length 
of time with the firm and all fire station projects in which they have played a primary role. For all listed projects 
provide the following: 

 

a. Description of project 
b. Role of the person 
c. Project’s original contracted construction cost and final construction cost 
d. Construction dates 
e. Project Owner 

f. Reference information (two current names with telephone numbers and emails per project) 

 
D. Subcontractor Pre-Selection Plan (50 points) 

 

The firm must submit a Subcontractor Pre-Selection Plan that is consistent with the guidance provided in 
Exhibit B. The Pre-Selection Plan should include a complete list of anticipated trades and suppliers and a 
discussion how selections will be made (i.e., qualifications, cost or combination). 

 
E. Understanding of the Project and approach to performing the required services (350 points) 

 
1. Propose strategies to manage the established Project’s construction budget. Describe the skills and 
techniques that make your firm the superior candidate for this Project. Provide specific examples and 
protocols for value engineering while maintaining the intent of the Project. 

 

2. Describe your firm’s approach to Projects with tight timeframes for design and construction. How do you 
propose to structure your team to assist the designers during preconstruction phase services and provide 
timely information and input? 

 

3. Describe your firm’s Project management approach and team organization during preconstruction and 
construction services. Briefly describe your approach to managing quality, cost control and integrating 
construction and on-going operations. 

 
4. Discuss your team’s approach to construction on a constrained site with limited access for heavy 
construction equipment. How will you protect existing construction that may be in place. 

 

5. Discuss your team’s approach to phasing, material, and equipment storage onsite, start/stop 
construction and mobilization/demobilization of temporary facilities. 

 
6. Sustainability is a priority for the TFD. Discuss your approach to cost benefit analysis versus return on 
investment and life cycle analysis. 

 

F. Overall evaluation of the team (100 points) 
 

This is to be determined by the selection panel members. No submittal response is required. 



4 
 

SECTION VI - SELECTION PROCESS 

A Selection Panel will evaluate and score each SOQ according to the criteria set forth above to determine a 
shortlist of three (3) to five (5) submitters for the interview phase of the selection process. Teams on the 
shortlist may be invited to participate in detailed interviews, however, the TFD reserves the right to select 
a firm based on the evaluation of the SOQ submittals alone and not proceed to interviews. If the 
selection panel determines that interviews are warranted, an interview invitation letter providing the evaluation 
criteria to be used will be sent to the shortlisted firms. 

 

At the conclusion of the selection process, for each submitter, the rated elements will be evaluated to 
determine the best qualified firm for this request. If the TFD is unsuccessful in negotiating a contract with the 
best qualified firm, the TFD may then negotiate with the second or third most qualified team until a contract 
is executed or may decide to terminate the selection process. 

 

Until the award and execution of the CMAR contract for the Project, the TFD will only release the name of 
each firm/team that submitted an SOQ. All other information received by the TFD in response to the RFQ or 
contained in the proposals will be confidential to avoid disclosure of the contents that may be prejudicial to 
the competing offerors during the selection process. The submittal of the winning team will be open to public 
inspection after the contract is awarded and the TFD has executed the contract with the selected offeror. 

 

The following tentative schedule has been prepared for this selection (all times are local): 
 

• RELEASE REQUEST FOR STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS Monday, November 21, 2023 

• PRE-SUBMITTAL MEETING Monday, December 11, 2023, 2 pm AZ 
Time at Project site 

• DEADLINE FOR REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 3 pm Friday, December 15, 2023 

• SUBMITTAL DEADLINE 3 pm Friday, December 22, 2023 
• SHORTLIST INTERVIEWS, IF NECESSARY EARLY JANUARY 2024 (tentative) 
• SELECTION MID JANUARY 2024 (tentative) 

 
SECTION VII - INTERVIEW PHASE REQUIREMENTS 

Each shortlisted team will be provided with the criteria, format and scoring for the interview phase of this 
Project when the short list is determined. The District reserves the right to eliminate the Interview Phase if it 
is in the best interest of the District. 

 

SECTION VIII - CONTRACTS AND FEES 

The District will not request or consider fees, price, man-hours or any other cost information at any time during 
the selection process, including the selection of firms to be interviewed, the final list, the order of preference 
or any other purpose. The selected firm will negotiate with the District regarding the contract provisions and 
fees. One (1) contract may or will be awarded and one (1) firm may or will be awarded the contract. 

 
SECTION IX - INDEMNIFICATION & INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

The TFD requires the selected Contractor to execute a Construction Manager at Risk Pre-Construction Phase 
Services Contract. The basic format of the District contract is attached to this RFQ as Exhibit C. This 
agreement is a preliminary draft and is subject to potential changes before the final agreement is 
accepted The TFD’s Indemnification and Insurance language is included in this contract. For firms 
submitting proposals, the District requires a statement in the submittal (include in cover letter) that 
the firm has read and understood all the elements laid out in the Construction Manager at Risk 
(CMAR) Pre-Construction Phase Services Contract. 

 



5 
 

Questions regarding insurance and indemnification shall be addressed prior to submittal in writing, by e-mail,to 
the e-mail address listed in Section XIV. 

 

The TFD will require the posting of Payment and Performance Bonds in conformance with the requirements 
of A.R.S. §34-610. 

 
SECTION X - PRE-SUBMITTAL MEETING 

 

A pre-submittal meeting will be held at 2 pm. local time on Monday December 11, 2023 in the TFD Station 
#1 at 2227 East Frontage Road in Tubac. It is NOT mandatory that your firm/team attend the pre- submittal 
meeting. 

 

SECTION XI - SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS 

Reply to this request with six copies and an electronic thumb drive Statement of Qualifications submittal which 
is not more than twenty (20) pages plus a one-page cover letter. Pages that have Project photos, charts, 
and graphs will count toward the maximum number of pages. However, the cover letter and/or cover will not 
be considered part of the twenty-page limitation, nor will résumés. Résumés for each key team member shall 
be limited to a maximum length of one page and should be incorporated as an appendix at the end of the 
SOQ. 

 
Table of Contents or tabbed divider pages will not be counted towards the maximum number of pages. 
Submittals which do not conform to the requirements will not be considered. 

 
The SOQ submittal must include: 

 

• A cover letter prepared on the company's letterhead and signed by a principal of the company. Provide 
primary contact person and contact person’s telephone number and e-mail address. 

• The firm's responses to the RFQ criteria in order and titled as listed using a MAXIMUM of 20 pages, 
each 8½” x 11” in size. 

• A statement in the proposal that the firm has read and understood all the elements laid out in the 
Construction Manager at Risk Pre-Construction Services Contract. 

• Addenda Acknowledgement (if applicable). 
 

Please be advised that failure to comply with the following criteria may be grounds for disqualification: 

• Receipt of submittal past specified cut-off date and time. 

• Adherence to number of pages & page size. 

• Inclusion of the required contract statement. 

• Addenda Acknowledgement (if applicable) – Include in cover letter. 

 

SECTION XII - SUBMITTAL TIME AND PLACE 

Submittals must be received no later than 3:00 p.m., local time, December 22, 2023. The District reserves 
the right to cancel or modify this Request for Statements of Qualifications at any time. 

Submittals should be made in a sealed envelope and labelled: 
 

CMAR SOQ Submittal – Tubac Fire District Fire Station #1 Project 
Ben Guerrero, Fire Chief 
Tubac Fire District 

2227 East Frontage Road 
Tubac, AZ 85646 



6 
 

SECTION XIII - GENERAL INFORMATION 

This Project will follow ARS Title 34 requirements. All design and construction work shall be performed or 
supervised by State of Arizona licensed professionals. 

 

District’s Website: This Request for Statements of Qualification and all addenda will be posted on the TFD 
website. The address is: https://www.tubacfire.org. 

The TFD will not be held responsible for any oral instructions. Any changes to this Request for Statements of 
Qualifications will be in the form of an addendum, which will be posted on the District website. A statement 
of receipt of all addenda must be included in the submittal or transmittal. 

 

District Rights: The TFD reserves the right to reject any oral submission of a response to this Request for 
Statements of Qualifications, to waive any informality or irregularity in any Request for Qualifications received, 
and to be the sole judge of the merits of the respective Statements of Qualifications received. 

 

Release of Project Information: The TFD shall coordinate the release of all public information concerning 
the Project, including selection announcements and contract awards. Firms desiring to release information to 
the public must receive prior written approval from the District. 

 

Contact with District Employees: All firms interested in this Project (including the firm’s employees, 
representatives, agents, lobbyists, attorneys, and sub-consultants) will refrain, under penalty of 
disqualification, from direct or indirect contact for the purpose of influencing the selection or creating bias in 
the selection process with any person who may play a part in the selection process, including the evaluation 
panel, TFD Board members, and staff. This policy is intended to create a level playing field for all potential 
firms; assure that contract decisions are made in public and to protect the integrity of the selection process. 
All contact on this selection process should be addressed to the authorized representative identified below. 

 

No Preferential Treatment or Discrimination: In accordance with the provisions of Article II, Section 36 of 
the Arizona Constitution, the TFD will not grant preferential treatment to or discriminate against any individual 
or group on the basis of race, sex, color, ethnicity or national origin. 

 
Civil Rights: The TFD, in accordance with the provisions of Title VI of the Civil Rights 1964 (78 Stat. 252.42 
U.S.C. §§ 2000d-4) and the Regulations, hereby notifies all respondents that it will affirmatively ensure that 
for any contract entered into pursuant to this advertisement, disadvantaged business enterprises will be 
afforded full and fair opportunity to submit bids in response to this invitation and will not be discriminated 
against on the grounds of race, color, or national origin in consideration for an award. 

 

SECTION XIV – QUESTIONS 

Questions pertaining to the consultant selection process or contract issues should be directed in writing or by 
e-mail to: 

 

Ben Guerrero, Fire Chief 
Tubac Fire District 
2227 East Frontage Road 
Tubac, AZ 85646 
bguerrero@tubacfire.org 

 

Requests for information on this RFQ must be received in writing by 3 pm local time December 13, 2023. 
Responses to questions will be posted to the District’s website, at the address above, by close of business, 
December 15, by addendum. Verbal inquiries, in person or by telephone, will not be answered. 

http://www.tubacfire.org/
mailto:bguerrero@tubacfire.org


 

EXHIBIT “A” 

SCOPE AND CONCEPTUAL PLAN 

 
 

The Project is to provide complete CMAR services for the design and construction of a new Fire 
Station #1 on the existing Station #1 site in substantial conformance with the conceptual site plan 
attached, on time and within budget. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

20 16 3240 4860 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

9 PUBLIC PARKING SPACES 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
CONCRETE APRON 
RESPONSE DRIVE 

CONCRETE APRON 
RETURN DRIVE 

 
 
 
 
 

 

SEPTIC GENERATOR 
 

RETENTION BASIN 

 
 

PROPERTY LINE 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

CONCEPTUAL SITE PLAN 
 

SITE & BUILDING INFORMATION: 

A1.0 
6/9/2023 

 
TUBAC FIRE STATION 

2172205750 

 

 
0 32 64 96 

• PARCEL ACREAGE: 1.165 ACRES 
• BUILDING AREA TOTAL: 8,992 SF 

ADMIN. AREA (W/ LOBBY): 1,649 SF 
FIRE STATION (FIRE HOUSE + APP. BAY) AREA: 7,343 SF 

 
TUBAC FIRE STATION 

FUTURE ANTENNA 
TOWER LOCATION 

STAFF PARKING - 10 



 

20 

PATIO 

 
 
 

FITNESS 

SECURED 
ENTRY 

 
 
 
 
 
 

OPEN OFFICE 

 
 

 
FIRE CHIEF 

 
 

 
SHOWER 

 

COMMS 

 
 

DORM 

 

COVERED 
PUBLIC ENTRY 

 
 

STOR IT 

KITCHEN 
 

SHOWER 
 
 

DORM 

 
 
 

LOBBY 

 
COFFEE 

 
mw 

 
 

ref. 

JAN 

 
 

 
WOMENSMENS RR 

RR 

CONFERENCE 
RM 

 
F.F STUDY 

 

DORM 

 

DORM 

 

DORM 

 

 
AIRLOCK 

 

DEPARTMENTS 
 
 
 

 
60' Bay 

ADMIN 

 
FIRE HOUSE 

 
 
 

 
APPARATUS 

BAY 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

DECON SINKS 

MED STO. 
 

 
 
 

HOSE 
STORAGE 

 
GENERAL 
STORAGE 

TURNOUT 
ROOM 

 
 
 

ELECTRIC 

 

GENERATOR 

 
 
 

 

CONCEPTUAL FLOOR PLAN 
TUBAC FIRE STATION 

SITE & BUILDING INFORMATION: 
• PARCEL ACREAGE: 1.165 ACRES 
• BUILDING AREA TOTAL: 8,992 SF 

ADMIN AREA (W/ LOBBY): 1,649 SF 
FIRE STATION (FIRE HOUSE + APP. BAY) AREA: 7,343 SF 

A2.0 
6/9/2023 

 
 

 

2172205750 
0 16 3402 4608 

TUBAC FIRE STATION 

F
L

A
T

 T
.V

. 

re
f.
 

re
f.
 

re
f.
 



 

EXHIBIT “B” 
TUBAC FIRE DISTRICT SUBCONTRACTOR/SUPPLIER SELECTION PLAN 

GUIDELINES 
 

The CMAR firm will select subcontractors and suppliers, subject to the District’s prior approval of the 
Subcontractor Selection Plan. This shall occur before submission of a GMP Proposal. Subcontractors may 
be selected based on qualifications or a combination of qualifications and price. Subcontractors may not be 
selected based on price alone. Except as noted below, the selection of Subcontractors and Suppliers is the 
responsibility of the CMAR. In any case, the CMAR is solely responsible for the performance of the selected 
Subcontractors/Suppliers. 

 

The CMAR will prepare a Subcontractor/Supplier selection plan and submit the plan to the District for 
approval. This Plan will identify those subcontractor trades anticipated to be selected by qualifications only 
and those subcontractor trades anticipated to be selected by qualifications and competitive bid. The Plan will 
also identify those subcontractors that will not be selected through a formalized qualifications-based selection 
process. The subcontractor selection plan must be consistent with the selection requirements of this RFQ 
and the Design/Preconstruction Services Contract. 

 
ELEMENTS OF THE SUBCONTRACTOR/SUPPLIERS SELECTION PLAN 

 

• Selection by qualifications only - The District may approve the selection of a Subcontractor(s) or 
Suppliers(s) based only on their qualifications when the CMAR can demonstrate it is in the best interest of 
the Project. The CMAR must apply the approved subcontractor selection plan in the evaluation of the 
qualifications of a Subcontractor(s) or Supplier(s) and provide the District with its review and recommendation. 
The CMAR will negotiate costs for services/supplies from each Subcontractor/Supplier selected under this 
method. 

 

• Selection by qualifications and competitive bid - The CMAR must apply the subcontractor selection 
plan in the evaluation of the qualifications of a Subcontractor(s) or Supplier(s) and provide the District with its 
process to prequalify prospective subcontractors and suppliers. All Work for subcontractors and suppliers 
must then be competitively bid to the prequalified subcontractors unless a Subcontractor or Supplier was 
selected. 

 

• The CMAR will develop Subcontractor and Supplier interest, submit the names of a minimum of 3 
qualified Subcontractors or Suppliers for each trade in the Project and solicit bids for the various Work 
categories. If there are not 3 qualified Subcontractors/Suppliers available for a specific trade or there are 
extenuating circumstances warranting such, the CMAR may request approval by the District to submit less 
than 3 names. Without prior written notice to the District, no change in the recommended 
Subcontractors/Suppliers will be allowed. 



1  

EXHIBIT “C” 
 

CMAR PRE-CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES AGREEMENT 
DRAFT 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

This draft services agreement is subject to change.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



2  

CONSTRUCTION MANAGER AT RISK 
Pre-Construction Phase Services Agreement 

DRAFT 
 

Tubac Fire District 
Fire Station #1 Project 



3  

THIS Agreement (the “Agreement”) is made and entered by and between Tubac Fire District, hereinafter 
designated the (“Tubac Fire District”, “The District”, “TFD”) and , a 
 corporation, hereinafter designated the (“Construction Manager at 
Risk” or “CMAR”). 

 

RECITALS 
 

A. Tubac Fire District, a special taxing district of the state of Arizona, is authorized and empowered 
by statute to execute agreements for professional services and construction services. 

 

B. The District intends to construct a new Fire Station #1 at 2227 East Frontage Road in Tubac, 
Arizona (Project), as more fully described in Exhibit “A” attached, hereinafter referred to as the (“Project”.) 

 
C. To undertake the design of said Project the District has entered into an Agreement with the 
Breckenridge Group, hereinafter referred to as (“Breckenridge”). 

 

D. CMAR has represented to the District the ability to provide pre-construction phase services and 
to construct the Project. 

 
E. Based on this representation, the District intends to enter into an Agreement with CMAR for the 
pre-construction phase services identified in this Agreement. At the end of the pre-construction phase, at 
the District’s discretion, the District may enter into a separate construction agreement with CMAR for 
construction phase services. 

 

AGREEMENT 
 

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and considerations hereinafter 
contained, it is agreed by and between Tubac Fire District and CMAR as follows: 

 

ARTICLE 1 – TERMS AND DEFINITIONS 
 

“Addenda” – Written or graphic instruments issued prior to the submittal of the GMP Proposal(s), which 
clarify, correct or change the GMP Proposal(s) requirements. 

 

“Agreement (Contract)” – This written document signed by the District and CMAR covering the pre- 
construction phase of the Project, and including other documents itemized and referenced in or attached to 
and made part of this Agreement. 

 
“Alternate Systems Evaluations” – Alternatives for design, means and methods or other scope considerations 
that are evaluated using value engineering principles which have the potential to reduce construction costs 
while still delivering a quality and functional Project that meets the District requirements. 

 
“Change Order” – A type of Contract amendment issued after execution of the Contract Documents where 
unanticipated or unforeseen circumstances in the Work have been encountered. Each change Order shall be 
signed by TFD and CMAR, stating their agreement upon all of the following: the addition, deletion or revision 



4  

in the scope of services or Deliverables; the amount of the adjustment to the Contract Amount; the extent 
of the adjustment to the Contract Time; or modifications of other Agreement terms. 

 

“District (Owner)” –- Tubac Fire District, with whom CMAR has entered into this Agreement and for whom 
the services are to be provided pursuant to said Agreement. 

 

“District’s Representative” – The designated District Project Manager. 
 

“District’s Senior Representative” – Tubac Fire District’s Fire Chief or designee. 
 

“Construction Contract Time(s)” – The number of days or the dates related to the construction phase that as 
stated in Construction Documents applies to the achievement of Substantial and final Completion of the 
Work. 

 
“Construction Documents” - Certain plans, specifications and drawings prepared by the Breckenridge after 
correcting for permit review requirements or dated plans and specifications specifically identified as the 
(“Construction Documents”) herein or in an Exhibit or Addendum which is attached hereto. 

 

“Construction Fee” – CMAR’s administrative costs, home office overhead, and profit, as applicable to this 
project, whether at CMAR’s principal or branch offices. 

 

“Construction Manager at Risk (CMAR)” – The firm selected by the District to provide the Pre-Construction 
Phase Services as detailed in this Agreement. 

 

“CMAR Representative” – CMAR designates as its CMAR Representative. 
 

“CMAR Senior Representative” – CMAR designates as its Senior Representative. 
 

“Contingency, CMAR’s” – A fund to cover cost growth during the Project used at the discretion of CMAR 
usually for costs that result from Project circumstances. The amount of CMAR’s Contingency shall be 
negotiated as a separate line item in each GMP package. Use and management of CMAR’s Contingency is 
described in this Agreement. 

 

“Contingency, Owners’ “– A fund to cover cost growth during the Project used at the discretion of the District 
usually for costs that result from the District-directed changes or unforeseen Site conditions. The amount of 
the Owners’ Contingency shall be set solely by the District and shall be in addition to the project costs 
included in CMAR’s GMP packages. Use and management of the Owners’ Contingency is described in this 
Agreement. 

 

“Contract Amount” – The cost for services for this Agreement as identified in Article 4. 
 

“Contract Documents” – The following items and documents in descending order of precedence executed by 
the District and CMAR: (i) all written modifications, amendments and Change Orders; (ii) this Agreement, 
including all exhibits and attachments; (iii) Construction Documents; (iv) GMP Plans and Specifications. 



5  

“Cost of the Work” – Direct costs necessarily incurred by CMAR in the proper performance of the Work. The 
Cost of the Work shall include direct labor costs, sub-agreement costs, costs of materials and equipment 
incorporated in the completed construction, costs of other materials and equipment, temporary facilities, 
permit and license fees, materials testing, and related items. The Cost of the Work shall not include CMAR’s 
Construction Fee, General Conditions Cost, or taxes. 

 

“Critical Path Method” – A scheduling technique used to predict project duration by analyzing which 
sequence of activities has the least amount of scheduling flexibility thus identifying the path (sequence) of 
activities which represent the longest time required to complete the project. Delay in completion of the 
identified activities shall cause a delay in achieving Substantial Completion. 

 

“Day(s)” – Indicates calendar days unless otherwise specifically noted in the Contract Documents. 
 

“Deliverables” – The work products prepared by CMAR in performing the scope of work described in this 
Agreement. Some of the major Deliverables to be prepared and provided by CMAR during the pre- 
construction phase may include but are not limited to: Construction Management Plan, Project Schedule, 
Schedule of Values, alternative system evaluations, procurement strategies and plans, cost estimates, 
construction market surveys, cash flow projections, GMP Proposals, Subcontractor selection plan, Statement 
of Proposed Minority Business Enterprise/Women’s Business Enterprise (“MBE/WBE”) Utilization as may be 
required or appropriate, Subcontractor agreements, Subcontractor bid packages, Supplier agreements, and 
others as indicated in this Agreement or required by the Project Team and other services set forth in this 
Agreement or reasonably inferable therefrom. 

 

“Breckenridge” – The licensed design professional who furnishes design, construction documents, and/or 
construction administration services required for the Project. 

 

“Drawings (Plans)” – Documents, which visually represent the scope, extent and character of the Work to be 
furnished and performed by CMAR during the construction phase, and which have been prepared or 
approved by Breckenridge and the District. Includes Drawings that have reached a sufficient stage of 
completion and released by Breckenridge solely for the purposes of review and/or use in performing 
constructability or bid-ability reviews and in preparing cost estimates (e.g. conceptual design Drawings, 
preliminary design Drawings, detailed design Drawings at 30%, 60%, 90% or 100% or schematic, design 
development, construction documents), but “not for construction”. Shop Drawings are not Drawings as so 
defined. 

 
“Final Completion” – 100% completion of all construction Work noted in or reasonably inferred from the 
Contract Documents, including but not limited to all Punch Lists work, all record and close-out documents 
specified in Owner’s Project specifications and Owner training/start up activities. 

 

“Float” – Number of Days by which an activity can be delayed without lengthening the Critical Path and 
extending the Substantial Completion date. 

 
“General Conditions Costs “ - Includes, but is not limited to the following types of costs for CMAR during the 
construction phase: (i) payroll costs for Project manager or CMAR for Work conducted at the Site, (ii) payroll 
costs for the superintendent and full-time general foremen, (iii) payroll costs for other management 



6  

personnel resident and working at the Site, (iv) workers not included as direct labor costs engaged in support 
(e.g. loading/unloading, clean-up, etc.), (v) costs of offices and temporary facilities setup solely for this 
Project including office materials, office supplies, office equipment and minor expenses, (vi) cost of utilities, 
fuel, sanitary facilities and telephone services at the Site, (vii) costs of liability and other applicable insurance 
premiums not included in labor burdens for direct labor costs, (viii) costs of bond premiums, (ix) costs of 
consultants not in the direct employ of the CMAR or Subcontractors. 

 

“Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP)” – The sum of the maximum Cost of the Work; the Construction Fee, 
General Conditions Costs, taxes, and CMAR Contingency. 

 

“GMP Plans and Specifications” – Plans and specifications upon which the Guaranteed Maximum Price 
Proposal is based. 

 
“Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) Proposal” – The offer or proposal of CMAR submitted on the prescribed 
form setting forth the GMP prices for the entire Work or portions of the Work to be performed during the 
construction phase. The GMP Proposal(s) are to be developed pursuant to Article 2 of this Agreement. 

 

“Legal Requirements” - All applicable federal, state and local laws, codes, ordinances, rules, regulations, 
orders and decrees of any government or quasi-government entity having jurisdiction over the Project or 
Site, the practices involved in the Project or Site, or any Work. 

 

“Notice to Proceed or “NTP” - The directive issued by the District, authorizing CMAR to start Work. 
 

“Opening Physical Conditions” – The current physical conditions present on the Site as jointly documented 
by an inspection of the Site by the District and CMAR at the Pre-construction Conference. 

 
“Payment Request” – The form that is accepted by the District and used by CMAR in requesting progress 
payments or final payment and which shall include such supporting documentation as is required by the 
Contract Documents and or the District. 

 
“Pre-construction Conference” – A Conference held between District and CMAR prior to the commencement 
of any Work, as scheduled by the District’s Representative or designee. 

 

“Project” – Work to be completed in the execution of this Agreement as amended and as described in the 
Recitals above and in Exhibit “A” attached. 

 
“Project Team” – Design phase services team consisting of Breckenridge, CMAR, and the District’s 
Representative, and the District Board as well as any others who are responsible for making decisions 
regarding the Project. 

 

“Schedule of Values (SOV)” – A statement furnished by CMAR to the District’s Representative for approval, 
reflecting the portions of the GMP allotted for the various parts of the Work and used as the basis for 
evaluating CMAR’s applications for progress payments. 

 
“Shop Drawings” – All drawings, diagrams, schedules and other data specifically prepared for the Work by 



7  

CMAR or a Subcontractor, Sub-Subcontractor, manufacturer, supplier or distributor to illustrate some 
portion of the Work. 

 

“Site” – Land or premises on which the Project is located. 
 

“Specifications” – The part(s) of the Contract Documents for the construction phase consisting of written 
technical descriptions of materials, equipment, construction systems, standards and workmanship, as 
applied to the Work and certain administrative details applicable thereto. 

 
“Subconsultant” – A person, firm or corporation having an agreement with CMAR to furnish services required 
as its independent professional associate or consultant with respect to the Project. 

 
“Subcontractor” – An individual or firm having a direct agreement with CMAR or any other individual or firm 
having an agreement with the aforesaid contractors at any tier, who undertakes to perform a part of the 
design phase services or construction phase Work at the Site for which CMAR is responsible. 

 

“Submittals” – Documents and/or things that may be produced or presented by one party for consideration, 
review or such other actions as may be required by this Agreement by another party, entity or person. 
Examples of Submittals include, but are not limited to, preliminary or evolving drafts, product data samples, 
etc. 

 

“Substantial Completion” – The established date when the Work or designated portion thereof is sufficiently 
complete, in accordance with the Contract Documents so that the Owner may occupy the Work, or 
designated portion thereof, for the use for which it is intended. This may include, but is not limited to: (i) 
Approval by the State Fire Marshall and/or other state or local authorities having jurisdiction over the Work 
or a portion thereof (Certificate of Occupancy); (ii) all systems in place, functional, and displayed to, and 
accepted by, the District or its representative; (iii) District operation and maintenance training complete; (iv) 
HVAC test and balance completed with reports provided to Breckenridge for review; (v) Operational and 
Maintenance manuals and final Project Record Documents delivered to the District or Breckenridge for 
review. 

 
“Supplier” – A manufacturer, fabricator, supplier, distributor, materialman or vendor having a direct 
Agreement with CMAR or with any Subcontractor to furnish materials or equipment to be incorporated in 
the construction phase Work by CMAR or any Subcontractor. 

 

“Work” – The entire completed construction or the various separately identifiable parts thereof, required to 
be furnished during the construction phase. Work includes and is the result of performing or furnishing labor 
and furnishing and incorporating materials, resources and equipment into the construction, and performing 
or furnishing services and documents as required by the Contract Documents for the construction phase. 

 

ARTICLE 2 – BASIC PRE-CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES 
 

2.1 GENERAL 
2.1.1 CMAR, to further the interests of the District, shall perform the services required by, and in 
accordance with this Agreement, to the satisfaction of the District, exercising the degree of care, skill and 



8  

judgment a professional construction manager performing similar services would exercise at such time, 
under similar conditions. CMAR shall, at all times, perform the required services consistent with sound and 
generally accepted construction management and construction contracting practice. 

 

2.1.2 Program Evaluation: As a participating member of the Project Team, CMAR shall provide to the 
District and Breckenridge a written evaluation of the District’s Project Program and Project Budget, each in 
terms of the other, with recommendations as to the appropriateness of each. 

 

2.1.3 Project Meetings: CMAR shall attend Project Team meetings which may include, but are not 
limited to, monthly Project management meetings, Project workshops, special Project meetings, 
construction document rolling reviews and partnering sessions. 

 
2.1.4 CMAR shall provide pre-construction phase services, described herein, in a proactive manner 
and consistent with the intent of the most current Drawings and Specifications. CMAR shall promptly notify 
the District in writing whenever CMAR determines that any Drawings or Specifications are inappropriate for 
the Project and/or cause changes in the scope of Work requiring an adjustment in the cost estimate, Project 
Schedule, GMP Proposals and/or in the Contract Time for the Work, to the extent such are established. 

 

2.1.5 CMAR, when requested by the District, shall attend, make presentations and participate as may 
be appropriate in public agency and or community meetings, germane to the Project. CMAR shall provide 
drawings, schedule diagrams, budget charts and other materials describing the Project, when their use is 
required or apropos in any such public agency meetings. 

 

2.2 CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT PLAN 
2.2.1 CMAR may, and at the written request of the District shall, prepare a Construction Management 
Plan (“CMP”), which may, and at the written request of the District shall, include CMAR’s professional 
opinions concerning: (a) Project milestone dates and the Project Schedule, including the broad sequencing 
of the design and construction of the Project, (b) investigations, if any, to be undertaken to ascertain 
subsurface conditions and physical conditions of existing surface and subsurface facilities and underground 
utilities, (c) alternate strategies for fast-tracking and/or phasing the construction, (d) the number of separate 
sub agreements to be awarded to Subcontractors and Suppliers for the Project construction, (e) permitting 
strategy, (f) safety and training programs, (g) construction quality control, (h) a commissioning program, (i) 
the cost estimate and basis of the model, and (j) a matrix summarizing each Project Team member’s 
responsibilities and roles. 

 
2.2.2 CMAR may, and at the written request of TFD shall, add detail to its previous version of the CMP 
to keep it current throughout the pre-construction phase, so that the CMP is ready for implementation at 
the start of the construction phase. The update/revisions may, and at the written request of the District shall, 
take into account (a) revisions in Drawings and Specifications; (b) the results of any additional investigatory 
reports of subsurface conditions, drawings of physical conditions of existing surface and subsurface facilities 
and documents depicting underground utilities placement and physical condition, whether obtained by the 
District, Breckenridge or CMAR, (c) unresolved permitting issues, and significant issues, if any, pertaining to 
the acquisition of land and right of way, (d) the fast-tracking if any of the construction, or other chosen 
construction delivery methods, (e) the requisite number of separate bidding documents to be advertised, (f) 
the status of the procurement of long-lead time equipment (if any) and/or materials, and (g) funding issues 



9  

identified by the District. 
 

2.3 PROJECT MASTER SCHEDULE 
2.3.1 The fundamental purpose of the “Project Master Schedule” is to identify, coordinate and record 
the tasks and activities to be performed by all of the Project Team members and then for the Project Team 
to utilize that Deliverable as a basis for managing and monitoring all member’s compliance with the schedule 
requirements of the Project. Each Project Team member is responsible for its compliance with the Project 
Master Schedule requirements. CMAR shall develop and maintain the “Project Master Schedule” on behalf 
of and to be used by the Project Team based on input from the other Project Team members. The Project 
Master Schedule shall be consistent with the most recent revised/updated CMP. The Project Master Schedule 
shall use the Critical Path Method (CPM) technique, unless required otherwise, in writing by the District. 
CMAR shall use scheduling software to develop the Project Master Schedule that is acceptable to the District. 
The Project Master Schedule shall be presented in graphical and tabular reports as agreed upon by the 
Project Team. If Project phasing as described below is required, the Project Master Schedule shall indicate 
milestone dates for the phases once determined. 

 
2.3.2. The Project Master Schedule shall include a Critical Path Method (CPM) diagram schedule that 
shall show the sequence of activities, the interdependence of each activity and indicate the Critical Path. 

 

2.3.2.1 The CPM diagram schedule shall be in Days and indicate duration, earliest and latest start and 
finish dates for all activities, and total Float times for all activities except critical activities. The CPM diagram 
shall be presented in a time scaled graphical format for the Project as a whole. 

 

2.3.2.2 The CPM diagram schedule shall indicate all relationships between activities. 
 

2.3.2.3 The activities making up the schedule shall be in sufficient detail to assure that adequate 
planning has been done for proper execution of the Work and such that it provides an appropriate basis for 
monitoring and evaluating the progress of the Work. Formulation of the Project Master Schedule must also 
be based on the Opening Physical Conditions of the Site and any potential Winter Shutdown in the event the 
Work on the Project is delayed for any reason. 

 
2.3.2.4 The CPM diagram schedule shall be based upon activities, which would coincide with the 
schedule of values. 

 

2.3.2.5 The CPM diagram schedule shall show all Submittals associated with each work activity and the 
review time for each submittal. 

 

2.3.2.6 The schedule shall show milestones, including milestones for Owner-furnished information, and 
shall include activities for Owner-furnished equipment and furniture when those activities are interrelated 
with CMAR activities. 

 
2.3.2.7 The schedule shall include a critical path activity that reflects anticipated weather delay during 
the performance of this Agreement. The duration shall reflect the average climatic range and usual industrial 
conditions prevailing in the locality of the Site. 



10  

2.3.3 The Project Schedule shall consider the District’s occupancy requirements showing portions of 
the Project having occupancy priority, and Contract Time. 

 

2.3.4 Float time shall be as prescribed below: 
 

2.3.4.1 The total Float within the overall schedule, is not for the exclusive use of either the District or 
CMAR, but is jointly owned by both and is a resource available to and shared by both parties as needed to 
meet Agreement milestones and the Project completion date. 

 

2.3.4.2 CMAR shall not sequester shared Float through such strategies as extending activity duration 
estimates to consume available Float, using preferential logic, or using extensive crew/resource sequencing, 
etc. Since Float time within the schedule is jointly owned, no time extensions shall be granted nor delay 
damages paid until or unless a delay occurs which extends the Work beyond the Substantial Completion date. 

 
2.3.4.3 Since Float time within the schedule is jointly owned, it is acknowledged that the District-caused 
delays on the Project may be offset by District-caused time savings (i.e., critical path Submittals returned in 
less time than allowed by the Agreement, approval of substitution requests and credit changes which result 
in savings of time to CMAR, etc.). In such an event, CMAR shall not be entitled to receive a time extension or 
delay damages until all District-caused time savings are exceeded, and the Substantial Completion date is 
also exceeded. 

 

2.3.5 The Project Schedule shall be updated and maintained by CMAR throughout the pre- 
construction phase such that it shall not require major changes at the start of the construction phase to 
incorporate CMAR’s plan for the performance of the construction phase Work. CMAR shall provide updates 
and/or revisions to the Project Schedule for use by the Project Team, whenever required, but no less often 
than at the monthly Project Team meetings. CMAR shall include with such Submittals a narrative describing 
its analysis of the progress achieved to-date vs. that planned, any concerns regarding delays or potential 
delays, and any recommendations regarding mitigating actions. 

 
2.3.6 Project Phasing: If phased construction is deemed appropriate and the District and Breckenridge 
approve, CMAR shall review the design and make recommendations regarding the phased issuance of 
Construction Documents to facilitate phased construction of the Work, with the objective of reducing the 
Project Schedule and/or Cost of the Work. CMAR shall take into consideration such factors as natural and 
practical lines of Work severability, sequencing effectiveness, access and availability constraints, total time 
for completion, construction market conditions, labor and materials availability, and any other factors 
pertinent to saving time and cost. 

 

2.4 DESIGN DOCUMENT REVIEWS 
2.4.1 CMAR shall evaluate periodically the availability of labor, materials/equipment, building 
systems, cost- sensitive aspects of the design; and other factors that may impact the cost estimate, GMP 
Proposals and/or the Project Master Schedule. 

 
2.4.2 CMAR shall recommend, in conjunction with the Project Team, those additional surface and 
subsurface investigations that, in its professional opinion, are required to provide the necessary information 
for CMAR to construct the Project. Before initiating construction operations, CMAR may request additional 



11  

investigations in their GMP Proposal to improve the adequacy and completeness of the Site condition 
information and data made available with the Construction Documents. 

 

2.4.3 CMAR shall meet with the Project Team, as required, to review designs during their 
development. CMAR shall familiarize itself with the evolving documents through the various design phases. 
CMAR shall proactively advise the Project Team and make recommendations on factors related to 
construction costs, and concerns pertaining to the feasibility and practicality of any proposed means and 
methods, selected materials, equipment and building systems, and, labor and material availability. CMAR 
shall advise the Project Team on proposed Site improvements, excavation and foundation considerations, as 
well as, concerns that exist with respect to coordination of the Drawings and Specifications. CMAR shall 
recommend cost effective alternatives. 

 
2.4.4 CMAR shall conduct constructability and bid-ability reviews of the Drawings and Specifications 
as necessary to satisfy the needs of the Project Team and at a minimum as scheduled and identified by 
milestones in the Project Master Schedule required in Section 2.3 above. The reviews shall attempt to identify 
all discrepancies and inconsistencies in the Construction Documents especially those related to clarity, 
consistency, and coordination of Work of Subcontractors and Suppliers. 

 

2.4.4.1 Constructability Reviews: CMAR shall evaluate whether (a) the Drawings and Specifications are 
configured to enable efficient construction, (b) design elements are standardized, (c) construction efficiency 
is properly considered in the Drawings and Specifications, (d) module/preassembly design are prepared to 
facilitate fabrication, transport and installation, (e) the design promotes accessibility of personnel, material 
and equipment and facilitates construction under adverse weather conditions, (f) sequences of Work 
required by or inferable from the Drawings and Specifications are practicable, and (g) the design has taken 
into consideration, efficiency issues concerning; access and entrance to the Site, laydown and storage of 
materials, staging of Site facilities, construction parking, and other similar pertinent issues. 

 
2.4.4.2 Bid-ability Reviews: CMAR shall check cross-references and complementary Drawings and 
sections within the Specifications, and in general evaluate whether (a) the Drawings and Specifications are 
sufficiently clear and detailed to minimize ambiguity and to reduce scope interpretation discrepancies, (b) 
named materials and equipment are commercially available and are performing well or otherwise, in similar 
installations, (c) Specifications include alternatives in the event a requirement cannot be met in the field, and 
(d) in its professional opinion, the Project is likely to be subject to differing Site conditions. 

 

2.4.4.3 Results of the reviews shall be provided to the District in formal, written reports clearly 
identifying all discovered discrepancies and inconsistencies in the Drawings and Specifications with notations 
and recommendations made on the Drawings, Specifications and other documents. If requested by the 
District, CMAR shall meet with the District and Breckenridge to discuss any findings and review reports. 

 

2.4.4.4 CMAR’s reviews shall be from a contractor's perspective, and though it shall serve to reduce the 
number of Requests for Information (RFI) and changes during the construction phase, responsibility for the 
Drawings and Specifications shall remain with Breckenridge and not CMAR. 

 
2.4.5 Notification of Variance or Deficiency: It is CMAR’s responsibility to assist Breckenridge in 
ascertaining that, in CMAR’s professional opinion, the Construction Documents are in accordance with 



12  

applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, building codes, rules and regulations. If CMAR recognizes that portions 
of the Construction Documents are at variance with applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, building codes, 
rules and regulations, it shall promptly notify Breckenridge and District in writing, describing the apparent 
variance or deficiency. However, Breckenridge is ultimately responsible for the compliance with those laws, 
statutes, ordinances, building codes, rules and regulations. 

 

2.4.6 Alternate Systems Evaluations: The Project Team shall routinely identify and evaluate using 
value engineering principles any alternate systems, approaches, design changes that have the potential to 
reduce Project costs while still delivering a quality and functional product. If the Project Team agrees, CMAR 
in cooperation with Breckenridge shall perform a cost/benefit analysis of the alternatives and submit such in 
writing to the Project Team. The Project Team shall decide which alternatives shall be incorporated into the 
Project. Breckenridge shall have full responsibility for the incorporation of the alternatives into the Drawings 
and Specifications. CMAR shall include the cost of the alternatives into the cost estimate and any GMP 
Proposals. 

 
2.5 COST ESTIMATES 
2.5.1 Unless otherwise agreed by both parties, within fourteen (14) days after receipt of the 
documents for the various phases of design, CMAR shall provide a detailed cost estimate and a written review 
of the documents. Breckenridge and CMAR shall reconcile any disagreements on the estimate to arrive at an 
agreed cost. If no consensus is reached, the District shall make the final determination. 

 

2.5.2 If any estimate submitted to the District exceeds previously accepted estimates or the District’s 
Project budget, CMAR shall make appropriate recommendations on methods and materials to the District 
and Breckenridge that CMAR believes shall bring the Project back into the Project budget. 

 

2.5.3 In between these milestone estimates, CMAR shall periodically provide a tracking report, which 
identifies the upward or downward movements of costs due to value engineering or scope changes. It shall 
be the responsibility of CMAR to keep the District and Breckenridge informed as to the major trend changes 
in costs relative to the District’s budget. 

 
2.5.4 If requested by the District, CMAR shall prepare a preliminary “cash flow” projection based upon 
historical records of similar type projects to assist the District in the financing process. 

 
 

2.6 GUARANTEED MAXIMUM PRICE (GMP) PROPOSALS 
2.6.1 The proposed GMP for the entire Work (or portions thereof) shall be presented in a format 
acceptable to the District (see Exhibit “C” attached). The District may request a GMP Proposal for all or any 
portion of the Project and at any time during the design phase. Any GMP Proposals submitted by CMAR shall 
be based on and consistent with the current update/revised cost estimate at the time of the request, the 
associated estimates for construction costs and include any clarifications or assumptions upon which the 
GMP Proposal(s) are based. CMAR guarantees to complete the Project at or less than the final approved GMP 
Proposal amount, plus approved Change Orders, and agrees that it shall be responsible for any increase in 
the actual cost of the Work above that amount. 

 
2.6.2 Guaranteed Maximum Price is comprised of the following not-to-exceed cost reimbursable or 



13  

lump sum amounts defined below. 
 

2.6.2.1 The Cost of the Work is actual costs and is a not-to-exceed, reimbursable amount. 
 

2.6.2.2 The General Conditions Costs and the Construction Fee are firm fixed lump sums. 
 

2.6.2.3 CMAR’s Contingency is an amount CMAR may use under the following conditions: (1) at its 
discretion for increases in the Cost of the Work, or (2) with written approval of the District for increases in 
General Condition Costs. CMAR’s Contingency is assumed to be a direct Project cost so all applicable markups 
shall be applied at the time of GMP submission. 

 

2.6.2.4 Taxes are deemed to include all sales, use, consumer and other taxes, which are legally enacted 
when negotiations of the GMP were concluded, whether or not yet effective, or merely scheduled to go into 
effect. Taxes are actual costs and are a not-to-exceed reimbursable amount. 

 
2.6.3 Owner’s Contingency are funds to be used at the sole discretion of the Owner. Owner’s 
Contingency shall be added to the Contract Price, for approval by the District Board, to cover any increases 
in Project costs that result from Owner directed changes or unforeseen Site conditions. At the time that 
Owner’s Contingency is used, the appropriate markups shall be applied. 

 

2.6.4 GMP amendments are cumulative except for CMAR’s Contingency. The amount of CMAR’s 
Contingency for each GMP shall be negotiated separately. 

 

2.6.5 CMAR, in preparing any GMP Proposal, shall obtain from Breckenridge, three sets of signed, 
sealed, and dated plans and specifications (including all addenda). CMAR shall prepare its GMP in accordance 
with the District’s request for GMP Proposal requirements based on the most current completed plans and 
specifications at that time. CMAR shall mark the face of each document of each set upon which its proposed 
GMP is based. These documents shall be identified as the GMP Plans and Specifications. CMAR shall send 
one set of those documents to the District’s Representative, keep one set and return the third set to 
Breckenridge. 

 
2.6.6 An updated/revised Project Master Schedule shall be included with any GMP Proposal(s) that 
reflects the GMP Plans and Specifications. Any such Project Master Schedule updates/revisions shall continue 
to comply with the requirements of this Agreement. 

 

2.6.6.1 The Project Master Schedule required above shall include a preliminary Construction Schedule 
developed in a Critical Path Method (CPM) with the first requested GMP. If subsequent GMP’s are requested, 
CMAR shall include an updated CPM Construction Schedule with their GMP submittal. 

 

2.6.7 GMP savings resulting from a lower actual Project cost than anticipated by CMAR remaining at 
the end of the project, shall revert to the District. 

 
2.6.8 GMP Proposal(s) Review and Approval 
2.6.8.1 The District may request a GMP from CMAR at any time during the Pre-Construction Phase. It is 
the District’s expectation that the GMP shall not exceed the District-stated Project budget. 



14  

2.6.8.2 CMAR shall meet with the District and Breckenridge to review the GMP Proposal(s) and the 
written statement of its basis. In the event the District or Breckenridge discovers inconsistencies, inaccuracies 
or confusion in the information presented, CMAR shall make adjustments as necessary to the GMP Proposal, 
its basis or both. 

 

2.6.8.3 CMAR’s detailed construction cost estimates and GMP shall be reviewed by Breckenridge and 
the District for reasonableness and compatibility with the District’s Project and the District’s budget. CMAR 
shall provide a response to Breckenridge’s and District’s questions and an explanation of differences between 
the District’s Project budget and CMAR’s construction cost estimate and corresponding GMP. The District 
may require that such responses and explanations be submitted in writing. CMAR, District and Breckenridge 
shall engage in a mutually agreeable process in an effort to achieve a clearly understood mutually acceptable 
GMP. 

 
2.6.8.4 In the event that the GMP exceeds the District’s Project budget, the District reserves the right 
to direct CMAR (and CMAR shall) work in conjunction with Breckenridge to assist in the redesign of the 
Project as necessary to meet the agreed upon program and the stated Project budget as follows: 

 

a) After direction from the District, CMAR shall coordinate and cooperate with the Project 
Team to assist Breckenridge in altering and re-drafting Construction Documents as necessary to accomplish 
the required reduction in cost. 
b) CMAR shall develop and provide to the District a GMP in connection with the altered 
Construction Documents to accomplish the necessary reductions in cost. 
c) CMAR shall analyze Breckenridge’s original submittal and as altered and redrafted 
Construction Documents, and make recommendations to the District as to ways and methods to reduce the 
costs of constructing the Project to a sum which does not exceed the stated Project budget. 

 
CMAR shall perform the work set forth in this Section without additional compensation. 

 

2.6.8.5 The District, upon receipt of any GMP proposal from CMAR, may submit the GMP Plans and 
Specifications to a third party for review and verification. 

 
2.6.8.6 If CMAR GMP Proposal is greater than the third party estimate or if the District, for some other 
stated reason may desire, the District may require CMAR to reconfirm its GMP Proposal. CMAR shall accept 
the third party’s estimate for the cost of Work as part of its GMP Proposal, or present a report within seven 
(7) days of a written request by the District for such a report identifying, explaining and substantiating the 
differences and/or explaining other concerns the District may raise. CMAR may be requested to, or at its own 
discretion, submit a revised GMP Proposal for consideration by the District. 

 

2.6.8.7 If during the review and negotiation of GMP Proposals design changes are required, the District 
shall authorize and cause Breckenridge to revise the Construction Documents to the extent necessary to 
reflect the agreed-upon assumptions and clarifications contained in the final approved GMP Proposal. Such 
revised Construction Documents shall be furnished to CMAR. CMAR shall promptly notify Breckenridge and 
District in writing if any such revised Construction Documents are inconsistent with the agreed-upon 
assumptions and clarifications. 



15  

2.6.8.8 After final submission of the GMP Proposal, the District may do any of the following: 
 

a) Accept CMAR original or revised GMP Proposal, if within the District’s budget, without 
comment; 
b) Accept CMAR original or revised GMP Proposal that exceeds the District budget, and 
indicate in writing to CMAR that the Project Budget has been increased to fund the differences; or 
c) Reject CMAR original or revised GMP Proposal in which event, the District may terminate 
this Agreement and/or elect to not enter into a separate Agreement with CMAR for the construction phase 
associated with the scope of Work reflected in the GMP Proposal. 

 

2.6.8.9 Upon acceptance by the District of a GMP Proposal, the District shall prepare and CMAR shall 
execute the District’s specified form of Agreement to reflect the GMP, and the GMP as approved shall 
become part of the Construction Services Agreement. Within ten (10) days after execution of the 
Construction Services Agreement, CMAR shall provide to the District a Performance Bond and a Labor and 
Material Payment Bond, each for 100% of the full Agreement price. 

 
2.7 SUBCONTRACTOR AND MAJOR SUPPLIER SELECTIONS 
2.7.1 There are two ways to select Subcontractors and major Suppliers prior to submission of any 
GMP Proposal. They are: 
a) A combination of qualifications and price derived through competitive bidding; and 
b) Qualitative selection with the subsequent negotiation of a price that is reasonable, a 
prudent use of public funds and in the District’s best interest. 

 

Absent special circumstances documented in writing by CMAR as set forth below, the combination of 
qualifications and price derived through the competitive bidding process shall be used to select 
Subcontractors and major Suppliers. The District has the sole discretion as to whether or not to allow the 
purely qualitative selection of Subcontractors and Suppliers. In any event, CMAR shall ensure compliance 
with Arizona Revised Statutes § 34-603 et seq., as amended, and as it may be further amended relative to 
the selection of Subcontractors and major Suppliers. 

 
2.7.2 The District may approve the selection of a Subcontractor(s) or Supplier(s) based only on their 
qualifications when CMAR can demonstrate, in writing, that it is in the best interest of the Project and that 
the selection process shall constitute a prudent use of public funds. 

 

2.7.2.1 A purely qualification-based selection of a Subcontractor(s) or Supplier(s) shall only occur prior 
to the submittal of any applicable GMP Proposal. 

 

2.7.2.2 CMAR shall prepare a Subcontractor or Supplier selection plan and submit the plan to the 
District for approval. CMAR shall apply the plan in the evaluation of the qualifications of a Subcontractor(s) 
or Supplier(s) and provide the District with its review and recommendation. 

 
2.7.2.3 CMAR shall obtain District approval of the selected Subcontractor(s) or Supplier(s). If CMAR is 
to self-perform under this alternative, CMAR shall submit a detailed explanation and demonstration of the 
cost of the Work it shall self-perform. CMAR shall further provide documentation to demonstrate that for 



16  

any Work that is self-performed, the cost of any such Work is a reasonable and prudent use of public funds. 
The District shall approve CMAR self-performance of any part of the Work and the cost therefore prior to 
accepting any GMP Proposal. 

 

2.7.2.4 CMAR shall negotiate costs for services/supplies from each Subcontractor or Supplier selected 
under this method. 

 

2.7.2.5 Within three (3) days of negotiating cost for services/supplies from all Subcontractors or 
Suppliers selected under this method, CMAR shall then prepare a report for the District’s approval identifying 
the recommended Subcontractor or Supplier for each category of the Work to be performed. The report shall 
be in a format approved by the District’s Representative and shall include, among other things, the amount 
of each such cost. CMAR shall, at its discretion or at the request of the District’s Representative, request 
written verification of any costs selected. CMAR shall provide an explanation of the qualifying factors for 
each selection. 

 
2.7.3 In all other cases, CMAR shall select Subcontractors and major Suppliers pursuant to the 
following process, which includes a combination of qualifications and price, derived through competitive 
bidding or as may otherwise be agreed in writing by the parties. CMAR shall ensure that any such process is 
fully compliant with the above-referenced Arizona law. 

 

2.7.3.1 CMAR shall develop Subcontractor interest, submit the names of a minimum of three (3) 
qualified Subcontractors selected pursuant to a qualifications-based procedure, for each trade in the Project 
for approval by the District and solicit bids for the various construction categories. If there are not three (3) 
qualified Subcontractors available for a specific trade or there are extenuating circumstances warranting 
such, CMAR may request approval by the District to submit less than three (3) names. Without prior written 
approval by the District, no change in the District-approved Subcontractors shall be allowed. 

 
2.7.3.2 If CMAR desires to self-perform certain portions of the Work, it shall comply with, and be subject 
to, the requirements set forth in Subsection 2.7.2.3 above. 

 

2.7.3.3 If the District objects to any nominated Subcontractor or to any nominated self-performed Work 
for good reason, CMAR shall nominate a substitute Subcontractor. 

 

2.7.3.4 CMAR shall distribute drawings and specifications, and when appropriate, conduct a pre-bid 
conference with prospective Subcontractors. 

 
2.7.3.5 CMAR shall receive, open, record and evaluate the bids. The apparent low bidders shall be 
interviewed to determine the responsiveness of their proposals. In evaluating the responsiveness of bid 
proposals, CMAR, in addition to bid price, shall consider the following factors: past performance on similar 
projects, qualifications and experience of personnel assigned, quality management plan, approach or 
understanding of the Work to be performed, and performance schedule to complete the Work. The final 
evaluation of Subcontractor bids shall be done with the District representative in attendance to observe and 
witness the process. CMAR shall resolve any Subcontractor bid withdrawal, protest or disqualification in 
connection with the award at no increase in the cost of the Work. 



17  

2.7.4 Upon completion of the Subcontractor selection process, CMAR shall submit a summary report 
to the District of the entire Subcontractor selection process. The report shall indicate, by bid process, all 
Subcontractors contacted to determine interest, the Subcontractors solicited, the bids received and costs 
negotiated, compliance with Arizona law as cited above and the selected Subcontractors for each category 
of Work. 

 

2.7.4.1 The selected Subcontractors shall provide a schedule of values, which shall be used to create 
the overall Project schedule of values. 

 

2.7.5 CMAR shall employ only Subcontractors who are duly licensed in Arizona and qualified to 
perform the Work per the requirements of the Contract Documents. 

 
2.7.6 Regardless of the selection procedure, CMAR is responsible for ensuring that the costs of the 
Subcontractor’s and/or Supplier’s services are reasonable and a prudent use of public funds. 

 

2.7.7 Regardless of the selection procedure and in any case, CMAR is solely responsible for the cost 
and performance of the selected Subcontractors or Suppliers. The District’s approvals under this section are 
not and shall not be construed to be a waiver, in part or in whole, of CMAR’s responsibility and obligation to 
perform as set forth in this Agreement or any subsequent construction agreement or GMP and for the cost, 
or less than the cost, set forth in any GMP to which the parties agree. 

 

ARTICLE 3 – PERIOD OF SERVICES 
 

3.1 The pre-construction phase services described in this Agreement shall be performed by CMAR 
in accordance with the most current updated/revised Project Master Schedule. Failure on the part of CMAR 
to adhere to the Project Master Schedule requirements for activities for which it is responsible shall be 
sufficient grounds for termination of this Agreement by Tubac Fire District. 

 
3.1.1 Upon failure to adhere to the approved Project Master Schedule, the District may provide 
written notice to CMAR that it intends to terminate this Agreement unless the problem cited is cured, or 
commenced to be cured, within three (3) days of CMAR’s receipt of such notice. 

 

3.2 If the date of performance of any obligation or the last day of any time period provided for 
herein should fall on a Saturday, Sunday, or holiday for the District, then said obligation shall be due and 
owing, and said time period shall expire, on the first day thereafter which is not a Saturday, Sunday or legal 
District holiday. Except as may otherwise be set forth herein, any performance provided for herein shall be 
timely made if completed no later than 4:00 p.m. (Kingman, AZ time) on the day of performance. 

 

ARTICLE 4 – CONTRACT AMOUNT AND PAYMENTS 
 

4.1 CONTRACT AMOUNT 
4.1.1 Based on the pre-construction phase services fee proposal submitted by CMAR and accepted by 
Tubac Fire District (which by reference is made a part of this Agreement); the District shall pay CMAR a fee 
not to exceed $  as follows: 



18  

For the basic services described in Article 2, CMAR 
shall receive a fee not to exceed: $  

 

Additional services and allowances, as described in Section 4.3: $  
 

 

Total Contract Amount, not to exceed: 
 

4.2 PAYMENTS 
4.2.1 Requests for monthly payments by CMAR for pre-construction phase services shall be submitted 
on the District’s “Contract Payment Request” form and shall be accompanied by a progress report, detailed 
invoices and receipts, if applicable. Any requests for payment shall include, as a minimum, a narrative 
description of the tasks accomplished during the billing period, a listing of any Deliverables submitted, and 
copies of any Subconsultants’ requests for payment, plus similar narrative and listings of Deliverables 
associated with their Work. Payment for services negotiated as a lump sum shall be made in accordance with 
the percentage of Work completed during the preceding month. Services negotiated as a not-to-exceed fee 
shall be paid in accordance with the Work effort expended on that service during the preceding month. 

 
4.2.2 Fees for CMAR and any Subconsultants shall be based upon the Hourly Rate Schedule included 
as Exhibit “B” attached hereto. 

 
4.2.3 CMAR shall pay all sums due Subconsultants for services and reimbursable expenses within 
fourteen (14) calendar days after CMAR has received payment for those services from the District. In no 
event shall the District pay more than ninety percent (90%) of the Contract Amount until final acceptance of 
all pre-construction phase services, and award of the final approved GMP for the entire Project by the District 
Board. 

 
4.2.4 CMAR agrees that no charges or claims for costs or damages of any type shall be made by it for 
any delays or hindrances beyond the reasonable control of the District during the progress of any portion of 
the services specified in this Agreement. Such delays or hindrances, if any, shall be solely compensated for 
by an extension of time for such reasonable period as may be mutually agreed between the parties. It is 
understood and agreed, however, that permitting CMAR to proceed to complete any services, in whole or in 
part after the date to which the time of completion may have been extended, shall in no way act as a waiver 
on the part of the District of any of its legal rights herein. 

 

4.2.5 No compensation to CMAR shall be allowed contrary to Article I, Chapter I, Title 34 of the Arizona 
Revised Statutes. 

 

4.2.6 If any service(s) executed by CMAR is delayed or suspended in whole or in part, for a period of 
more than one hundred eighty (180) days through no fault of CMAR, CMAR shall be paid for the services 
performed prior to the delay or suspension. 

 
4.3 ADDITIONAL PRE-CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES 
4.3.1 CMAR may be required to provide services in excess of those set forth in Article 2. Mark-ups are 
not authorized and only the reimbursables specifically identified below shall be reimbursed as authorized 

$  



19  

herein. Any additional services shall be requested by the District, in writing, prior to the delivery of said 
services. There shall be no payment by the District for any additional services provided prior to or without 
the written request of the District for said services. 

 

4.3.2 When authorized by the District, CMAR shall be entitled to reimbursement at cost of pre- 
construction phase services related expenses incurred for the following items: 

 

(a) Reasonable charges for air transportation (not to exceed standard coach rates), ground 
travel (for automobile rental, taxi, parking, etc. not to exceed $50 per day), and authorized expenses while 
traveling for hotel and meal per diem (not to exceed the State of Arizona General Accounting Office 
information (Current AZ State Rates – Lodging and Meal Index at https://gao.az.gov/travel/welcome-gao- 
travel) shall be reimbursed. CMAR shall provide detailed receipts for all reimbursable charges. Travel 
expenses shall not exceed $ _ without further approval of the District. 

 
(b) Long-distance telephone and long-distance facsimile costs incurred on behalf of the Project 
shall be reimbursed. These costs shall not exceed $ without further approval of the District. 

 
(c) Non-overhead printing expenses incurred including the printing of Construction Documents 
for bidding, courier services or other Project-related services that may be requested by the District. The cost 
of such service shall not exceed $ (reimbursable allowance) without further approval by the District. 

 

ARTICLE 5 - DISTRICT'S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

5.1 The District, at no cost to CMAR, shall furnish the following information: 
 

5.1.1 One (1) copy of data the District determines pertinent to the work. However, CMAR shall be 
responsible for searching the records and requesting information it deems reasonably required for the 
Project. 

 
5.1.2 All available data and information pertaining to relevant policies, standards, criteria, studies, 
etc. 

 

5.1.3 The name of the person designated to be the District’s representative during the term of this 
Agreement. The District’s Representative has the authority to administer this Agreement and shall monitor 
CMAR’s compliance with all terms and conditions stated herein. All requests for information from or 
decisions by the District on any aspect of the work or Deliverables shall be directed to the District’s 
Representative. 

 

5.2 The District additionally shall: 
 

5.2.1 Contract separately, with one or more design professional, to provide architectural and/or 
engineering design services for the Project. The scope of services for the design professional shall be provided 
to CMAR for its information. CMAR shall have no right, to limit or restrict any changes of such services that 
are otherwise mutually acceptable to the District and the design professional. 



20  

5.2.2 Supply, without charge, all necessary copies of programs, reports, drawings, and specifications 
reasonably required by CMAR except for those copies whose cost has been reimbursed by the District. 

 

5.2.3 Provide CMAR with adequate information in its possession or control regarding the District’s 
requirements for the Project. 

 

5.2.4 Give prompt written notice to CMAR when the District becomes aware of any default or defect 
in the Project or non-conformance with the Drawings and Specifications, or any of the services required 
hereunder. Upon notice of failure to perform, the District may provide written notice to CMAR that it intends 
to terminate this Agreement unless the problem cited is cured, or commenced to be cured, within three (3) 
days of CMAR’s receipt of such notice. 

 
5.2.5 Notify CMAR of changes affecting the budget allocations or schedule. 

 

5.2.6 The District’s Representative, shall have authority to approve the Project Budget and Project 
Master Schedule, and render decisions and furnish information the District’s Representative deems 
appropriate to CMAR. 

 

ARTICLE 6 – AGREEMENT CONDITIONS 
 

6.1 PROJECT DOCUMENTS AND COPYRIGHTS 
6.1.1 TFD Ownership of Project Documents: All work products (electronically or manually generated) 
including but not limited to: cost estimates, studies, design analyses, original mylar drawings, Computer 
Aided Drafting and Design (CADD) files, and other related documents which are prepared specifically in the 
performance of this Agreement (collectively referred to as Project Documents) are to be and remain the 
property of TFD and are to be delivered to TFD’s Representative before the final payment is made to CMAR. 
Nonetheless, in the event these Projects Documents are altered, modified or adapted without the written 
consent of CMAR, which consent CMAR shall not unreasonably withhold, TFD agrees to hold CMAR harmless 
to the extent permitted by law, from the legal liability arising out of and or resulting from the District’s 
alteration, modification or adaptation of the Project Documents. 

 
6.1.2 CMAR to Retain Copyrights: The copyrights, patents, trade secrets or other intellectual property 
rights associated with the ideas, concepts, techniques, inventions, processes or works of authorship 
developed or created by CMAR, its Subconsultants or personnel, during the course of performing this 
Agreement or arising out of the Project shall belong to CMAR. 

 

6.1.3 License to District for Reasonable Use: CMAR hereby grants, and shall require its Subconsultants 
to grant, a license to the District, its agents, employees, and representatives for an indefinite period of time 
to reasonably use, make copies, and distribute as appropriate the Project Documents, works or Deliverables 
developed or created for the Project and this Agreement. This license shall also include the making of 
derivative works. In the event that the derivative works require the District to alter or modify the Project 
Documents, then Subsection 6.1.1 above applies. 

 
6.1.4 Documents to Bear Seal: When applicable and required by state law, CMAR and its 
Subconsultants shall endorse by an Arizona professional seal all plans, works, and Deliverables prepared by 



21  

them for this Agreement. 
 

6.1.5 Records Inspection: The District and its employees, agents, and authorized representatives shall 
have the right at all reasonable times and during all business hours to inspect and examine CMAR’s records 
related to this Agreement. 

 

6.1.6 Record Retention: CMAR shall comply with the District’s record retention policy with regard to 
all records associated with the Project. This record retention requirement shall remain in effect following 
expiration of the Agreement or termination of the Agreement by either Party. 

 
6.2 COMPLETENESS AND ACCURACY OF CMAR'S WORK 
6.2.1 CMAR shall be responsible for the completeness and accuracy of its reviews, reports, supporting 
data, and other design phase Deliverables prepared or compiled pursuant to its obligations under this 
Agreement and shall at its sole expense correct its work or Deliverables. Any damage incurred by the District 
as a result of additional construction cost caused by such willful or negligent errors, omissions or acts shall 
be chargeable to CMAR to the extent that such willful or negligent errors, omissions and acts fall below the 
standard of care and skill that a professional CMAR in Arizona would exercise under similar conditions. The 
fact that the District has accepted or approved CMAR’s work or Deliverables shall in no way relieve CMAR of 
any of its responsibilities under this Agreement, nor does this requirement to correct the work or 
Deliverables constitute a waiver of any claims or damages otherwise available by law or Agreement to the 
District. Correction of errors, omissions and acts discovered on architectural or engineering plans and 
specifications shall be the responsibility of the Breckenridge. 

 
6.3 ALTERATION IN CHARACTER OF WORK 
6.3.1 In the event an unanticipated or unforeseen alteration or modification in the character of Work 
or Deliverables results in a substantial change in this Agreement, thereby materially increasing or decreasing 
the scope of services, cost of performance, or Project Master Schedule, the Work or Deliverables shall 
nonetheless be performed as directed by the District. However, before any altered or modified Work begins, 
a Change Order or Amendment shall be approved and executed by the District and CMAR. Such Change Order 
or Amendment shall not be effective until approved by the District. 

 
6.3.2 Additions to, modifications, or deletions from the Project provided herein may be made, and 
the compensation to be paid to CMAR may accordingly be adjusted by mutual agreement of the contracting 
parties. 

 

6.3.3 No claim for extra work done, or materials furnished, by CMAR shall be allowed by District 
except as provided herein, nor shall CMAR do any work or furnish any material(s) not covered by this 
Agreement unless such work or material is first authorized in writing. Work or material(s) furnished by CMAR 
without such prior written authorization shall be at CMAR’s sole jeopardy, cost, and expense, and CMAR 
hereby agrees that without prior written authorization no claim for compensation for such work or materials 
furnished shall be made. 

 
6.4 DATA CONFIDENTIALITY 
6.4.1 As used in this Agreement, data (“Data”) means all information, whether written or verbal, 
including plans, photographs, studies, investigations, audits, analyses, samples, reports, calculations, internal 



22  

memos, meeting minutes, data field notes, work product, proposals, correspondence and any other similar 
documents or information prepared by or obtained by CMAR in the performance of this Agreement. 

 

6.4.2 The parties agree that all Data, including originals, images, and reproductions, prepared by, 
obtained by, or transmitted to CMAR in connection with CMAR’s performance of this Agreement is 
confidential and proprietary information belonging to the District. 

 

6.4.3 CMAR shall not divulge Data to any third party without prior written consent of the District. 
CMAR shall not use the Data for any purposes except to perform the services required under this Agreement. 
These prohibitions shall not apply to the following Data: 

 

6.4.3.1 Data, which was known to CMAR prior to its performance under this Agreement unless such 
data was acquired in connection with work performed for the District; 

 

6.4.3.2 Data which was acquired by CMAR in its performance under this Agreement and which was 
disclosed to CMAR by a third party, who to the best of CMAR’s knowledge and belief, had the legal right to 
make such disclosure and CMAR is not otherwise required to hold such data in confidence; or 

 

6.4.3.3 Data which is required to be disclosed by CMAR by virtue of law, regulation, or court. 
 

6.4.4 In the event CMAR is required or requested to disclose Data to a third party, or any other 
information to which CMAR became privy as a result of any other Agreement with the District, CMAR shall 
first notify the District as set forth in this Article of the request or demand for the Data. CMAR shall timely 
give the District sufficient facts, such that the District can have a meaningful opportunity to either first give 
its consent or take such action that the District may deem appropriate to protect such Data or other 
information from disclosure. 

 
6.4.5 CMAR, unless prohibited by law, within ten (10) calendar days after completion of services for 
a third party on real or personal property owned or leased by the District, shall promptly deliver, as set forth 
in this section, a copy of all Data to the District. All Data shall continue to be subject to the confidentiality 
agreements of this Agreement. 

 

6.4.6 CMAR assumes all liability for maintaining the confidentiality of the Data in its possession and 
agrees to compensate the District if any of the provisions of this section are violated by CMAR, its employees, 
agents or Subconsultants. Solely for the purposes of seeking injunctive relief, it is agreed that a breach of this 
section shall be deemed to cause irreparable harm that justifies injunctive relief in court. 

 

6.5 PROJECT STAFFING 
6.5.1 Prior to the start of any work or Deliverables under this Agreement, CMAR shall submit to the 
District, an organization chart for CMAR staff and Subconsultants and detailed resumes of key personnel 
listed in its response to the District’s Request for Qualifications or subsequent fee proposals (or revisions 
thereto), that shall be involved in performing the services prescribed in this Agreement. Unless otherwise 
informed, the District hereby acknowledges its acceptance of such personnel to perform such services under 
this Agreement. In the event CMAR desires to change such key personnel from performing such services 
under this Agreement, CMAR shall submit the qualifications of the proposed substituted personnel to the 



23  

District for prior approval. Key personnel shall include, but are not limited to, principal-in-charge, project 
manager, superintendent, project director or those persons specifically identified to perform services of cost 
estimating, scheduling, value engineering, and procurement planning. 

 

6.5.2 CMAR shall maintain an adequate number of competent and qualified persons, as determined 
by the District, to ensure acceptable and timely completion of the scope of services described in this 
Agreement throughout the period of those services. If the District objects, with reasonable cause, to any of 
CMAR’s staff, CMAR shall take prompt corrective action acceptable to the District and, if required, remove 
such personnel from the Project and replace with new personnel acceptable to the District. 

 

6.6 INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 
6.6.1 CMAR is and shall be an independent contractor and whatever measure of control the District 
exercises over the work or Deliverables pursuant to this Agreement shall be as to the results of the work 
only. No provision in this Agreement shall give, or be construed to give, the District the right to direct CMAR 
as to the details of accomplishing the work or Deliverables. These results shall comply with all applicable laws 
and ordinances. 

 
6.7 SUBCONSULTANTS 
6.7.1 Prior to beginning the work or Deliverables, CMAR shall furnish, for the District’s approval, the 
names of all Subconsultants to be used on this Project. All subsequent changes shall be subject to the 
approval of the District. 

 

6.8 TERMINATION 
6.8.1 The District and CMAR hereby agree to the full performance of the covenants contained herein, 
except that the District reserves the right, at its discretion and without cause, to terminate any or all services 
provided for in this Agreement, or terminate any portion of the Project for which services have been 
performed by CMAR. 

 
6.8.2 In the event the District terminates any or all of the services or any part of the services as herein 
provided, the District shall so notify CMAR in writing, and CMAR shall immediately after receiving such notice, 
discontinue advancing the Work specified under this Agreement and mitigate the expenditure, if any, of costs 
resulting from such termination. 

 

6.8.3 CMAR, upon such termination, shall promptly deliver to the District all reports, estimates and 
other work or Deliverables entirely or partially completed, together with all unused materials supplied by the 
District. 

 

6.8.4 CMAR shall appraise the work completed and submit an appraisal to the District for evaluation. 
The District shall have the right to inspect CMAR's Work or Deliverables to appraise the Work completed. 

 

6.8.5 CMAR shall receive compensation in full for services satisfactorily performed to the date of such 
termination and the reasonable direct costs and direct expenses attributable to such termination. The fee 
shall be paid in accordance with Article 4 of this Agreement, and shall be an amount mutually agreed upon 
by CMAR and the District. If there is no mutual agreement, the final determination shall be made in 
accordance with Section 6.9, "Disputes". However, in no event shall the fee exceed that set forth in Article 4 



24  

or as amended in accordance with Section 6.3 above, “Alteration in Character of Work”. The District shall 
make the final payment within sixty (60) days after CMAR has delivered the last of the partially or otherwise 
completed Work items and the final fee has been agreed upon. 

 

6.9 DISPUTE AVOIDANCE AND RESOLUTION 
6.9.1 The parties are fully committed to working with each other throughout the Project and agree to 
communicate regularly with each other at all times so as to avoid or minimize disputes or disagreements. If 
disputes or disagreements do arise, CMAR and District each commit to resolving such disputes or 
disagreements in an amicable, professional and expeditious manner so as to avoid unnecessary losses, delays 
and disruptions to the Work. 

 

6.9.2 CMAR and the District shall first attempt to resolve disputes or disagreements at the field level 
through discussions between CMAR’s Representative and the District’s Representative. 

 

6.9.3 If a dispute or disagreement cannot be resolved through CMAR’s Representative and the 
District’s Representative, CMAR’s Senior Representative and the District’s Senior Representative, upon the 
request of either party, shall meet as soon as conveniently possible, but in no case later than thirty (30) days 
after such a request is made, to attempt to resolve such dispute or disagreement. Prior to any meetings 
between the Senior Representatives, the parties shall exchange relevant information that shall assist the 
parties in resolving their dispute or disagreement. 

 

6.9.4 Except as otherwise agreed by the parties, any litigation brought by either party against the 
other to enforce the provisions of this Agreement shall be filed in the Santa Cruz County Superior Court and 
Arizona law shall apply and control. In the event any action at law or in equity is instituted between the 
parties in connection with this Agreement, the prevailing party in the action shall be entitled to its costs 
including reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs from the non-prevailing party. 

 
6.10 WITHHOLDING PAYMENT 
6.10.1 The District reserves the right to withhold funds from the District’s progress payments up to the 
amount equal to the claims the District may have against CMAR, until such time that a settlement on those 
claims has been reached. 

 

6.11 RECORDS/AUDIT 
6.11.1 Records of CMAR’s direct personnel payroll, reimbursable expenses pertaining to the Project 
and records of accounts between the District and CMAR shall be kept on a generally recognized accounting 
basis and shall be available for up to three (3) years following final completion of the Project. The District, its 
authorized representative, and/or the appropriate federal agency, reserve the right to audit CMAR’s records 
to verify the accuracy and appropriateness of all pricing data, including data used to negotiate this Agreement 
and any Change Orders. The District reserves the right to decrease Contract Amount and/or payments made 
on this Agreement if, upon audit of CMAR’s records, the audit discloses CMAR has provided false, misleading, 
or inaccurate cost and pricing data. 

 
6.11.2 CMAR shall include a provision similar to Subsection 6.11.1 above in all of its agreements with 
Subconsultants, Subcontractors, and Suppliers providing services under this Agreement to ensure the 
District, its authorized representative, and/or the appropriate federal agency, has access to the 



25  

Subconsultants’, Subcontractors’, and Suppliers’ records to verify the accuracy of cost and pricing data. The 
District reserves the right to decrease Contract Amount and/or payments made on this Agreement if the 
above provision is not included in Subconsultant, Subcontractor, and Supplier Agreements, and one or more 
of those parties do not allow the District to audit their records to verify the accuracy and appropriateness of 
pricing data. 

 

6.12 INDEMNIFICATION 
6.12.1 To the fullest extent permitted by law, CMAR agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless 
Tubac Fire District, its officers, agents and employees, and any jurisdiction or agency issuing permits for any 
Work included in the Project, their officers, agents and employees, hereinafter individually and collectively 
referred to as “indemnitee”, from all suits and claims, including attorney's fees and cost of litigation, actions, 
losses, damage, expenses, costs or claims of any character or any nature relating to, arising out of, or alleged 
tohave resulted from the negligent, reckless, or intentional acts, errors, mistakes, omissions, work or services 
of the CMAR related to the Work or Deliverables done in fulfilling the terms of this Agreement, or on account 
of any act, claim or amount arising out of or recovered under Workmen's Compensation Law, or arising out 
of the failure of CMAR to conform to any statutes, ordinances, regulation, law or court decree. It is agreed 
that CMAR shall be responsible for primary loss investigation, defense and judgment costs where this 
Agreement of indemnity applies. 

 
6.13 NOTICES 
6.13.1 Many notices or demands required to be given, pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, may 
be given to the other Party in writing, delivered in person, sent by facsimile transmission, emailed, deposited 
in the United States mail, postage prepaid, or deposited with any commercial air courier or express service 
at the addresses set forth below, or to such other address as the Parties may substitute by written notice, 
given in the manner prescribed in this paragraph. However, notices of termination, notices of default and 
any notice regarding warranties shall be sent via registered or certified mail, return receipt requested at the 
address set forth below and to legal counsel for the party to whom the notice is being given. 

 
 
 
 

To Tubac Fire District: Ben Guerrero, Fire Chief 
Tubac Fire District 
2227 East Frontage Road 
Tubac, AZ 85646 

To CMAR ---(name)--- 
---(firm)--- 
---(address)--- 
---(the City, state)--- 

To: ---(name)--- 
---(firm)--- 
---(address)--- 
---(the City, state)--- 

Copy to: Breckenridge (if 
applicable) 

Klindt D. Breckenridge, President 
1735 East Fort Lowell Road, Suite 12 
Tucson, AZ 85719 



26  

Or to other such place and with such other copies as either party may designate as to itself by written notice 
to the other party. Rejection, any refusal to accept, or the inability to deliver because of changed address of 
which no notice was given shall be deemed to be receipt of the notice as of the date of such rejection, refusal, 
or inability to deliver. 

 

6.14 COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LAWS 
6.14.1 CMAR will comply with all applicable Federal, State and County laws, regulations and policies. 

 

6.14.2 CMAR understands and acknowledges the applicability of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 
the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986 and the Drug Free Workplace Act of 1989. CMAR agrees to 
comply with these laws in performing the Contract Documents and to permit the District to verify such 
compliance. 

 
6.15 CONFLICT OF INTEREST 
6.15.1 To evaluate and avoid potential conflicts of interest, CMAR shall provide written notice to the 
District, as set forth in this section, of any work or services performed by CMAR for third parties that may 
involve or be associated with any real property or personal property owned or leased by the District. Such 
notice shall begiven at least seven (7) business days prior to commencement of the Project by CMAR for a 
third party, or at least seven (7) business days prior to an adverse action as defined below. Written notice 
and disclosure shall be sent to: 

 

Ben Guerrero, Fire Chief 
Tubac Fire District 
2227 East Frontage Road 
Tubac, AZ 85646 

 
6.15.2 Actions considered to be averse to the District under this Agreement include but are not limited 
to: 

 

(a) Using Data, as defined in this Agreement, acquired in connection with this Agreement to 
assist a third party in pursuing administrative or judicial action against the District; 

 

(b) Testifying or providing evidence on behalf of any person in connection with an 
administrative or judicial action against the District; and 

 
(c) Using Data to produce income for CMAR or its employees independently of performing the 
services under this Agreement, without the prior written consent of the District. 

 

6.15.3 CMAR represents that except for those persons, entities and projects previously identified in 
writing to the District, the services to be performed by CMAR under this Agreement are not expected to 
create an interest with any person, entity, or third-party project that is or may be averse to the interests of 
the District. 

 
6.15.4 CMAR’s failure to provide a written notice and disclosure of the information as set forth in this 



27  

section shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement. 
 

6.16 CONTRACTOR'S LICENSE 
6.16.1 Prior to award of this Agreement, CMAR shall provide to the District, its Contractor's License 
Classification and number and its Federal Tax I.D. number. 

 

6.17 SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 
6.17.1 The District and CMAR and their partners, successors, assigns, and legal representatives shall 
each be bound to the other party to this Agreement and to the partners, successors, assigns, and legal 
representatives of such other party in respect to all covenants of this Agreement. Neither the District nor 
CMAR shall assign, sublet, or transfer its interest in this Agreement without the written consent of the other. 
In no event shall any contractual relationship be created or be construed to be created as between any third 
party and the District. Notwithstanding the District’s consent to assignment, CMAR as Assignor, and the 
Assignee shall both remain liable under all rights, obligations, terms, and conditions of this Agreement. 

 
6.18 FORCE MAJEURE 
6.18.1 If either party is delayed or prevented from the performance of any service, in whole or part, 
required under this Agreement by reason of acts of God or other cause beyond the control and without fault 
of that party (financial inability excepted), performance of that act shall be excused, but only for the period 
of the delay. The time for performance of the act shall be extended for a period equivalent to the period of 
delay. 



28  

6.19 COVENANT AGAINST CONTINGENT FEES 
6.19.1 CMAR warrants that no person has been employed or retained to solicit or secure this 
Agreement upon an agreement or understanding for a commission, percentage, brokerage, or contingent 
fee, and that no member of the District Board or any employee of the District has any interest, financially, or 
otherwise, in CMAR. The District shall in the event of the breach or violation of this warranty, have the right 
to annul this Agreement without liability, or at its discretion to deduct from the Contract Amount or 
consideration, the full amount of such commission, percentage, brokerage, or contingent fee. 

 

6.20 NON-WAIVER PROVISION 
6.20.1 The failure of either party to enforce any of the provisions of this Agreement or to require 
performance by the other party of any of the provisions hereof shall not be construed to be a waiver of such 
provisions, nor shall it affect the validity of this Agreement or any part thereof, or the right of either party to 
thereafter enforce each and every provision. 

 
6.21 JURISDICTION 
6.21.1 This Agreement shall be deemed to be made under, and shall be construed in accordance with, 
and governed by the laws of the State of Arizona, without regard to the conflicts or choice of law provisions 
thereof. An action to enforce any provision of this Agreement or to obtain any remedy with respect hereto 
shall be brought in the Superior Court, Santa Cruz County, Arizona, and for this purpose, each party hereby 
expressly and irrevocably consents to the jurisdiction and venue of such Court. 

 

6.22 SURVIVAL 
6.22.1 All warranties, representations and indemnifications by CMAR shall survive the completion or 
termination of this Agreement. 

 

6.23 MODIFICATION 
6.23.1 No supplement, modification, or amendment of any term of this Agreement shall be deemed 
binding or effective unless in writing and signed by the parties hereto and in conformation with provisions 
of this Agreement, except as expressly provided herein to the contrary. 

 
6.24 SEVERABILITY 
6.24.1 If any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof to any person or circumstance shall 
be invalid, illegal or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Agreement and the application 
thereof shall not be affected and shall be enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

 

6.25 INTEGRATION 
6.25.1.1 This Agreement contains the full agreement of the parties hereto. Any prior or 
contemporaneous written or oral agreement between the parties regarding the subject matter hereof is 
merged and superseded hereby. 

 

6.26 TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE 
6.26.1.1  Time of each of the terms, covenants, and conditions of this Agreement is hereby expressly 
made of the essence. 

 
6.27 THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARY 



29  

6.27.1 This Agreement shall not be construed to give any rights or benefits in the Agreement to 
anyone other than the District and CMAR. All duties and responsibilities undertaken pursuant to this 
Agreement shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the District and CMAR and not for the benefit of any 
other party. 

 

6.28 COOPERATION AND FURTHER DOCUMENTATION 
6.28.1.1 CMAR agrees to provide the District such other duly executed documents as may be 
reasonably requested by the District to implement the intent of this Agreement. 

 

6.29 CONFLICT IN LANGUAGE 
6.29.1.1 All Work or Deliverables performed shall conform to all applicable City codes, ordinances and 
requirements as outlined in this Agreement. If there is a conflict in interpretation between provisions in this 
Agreement and any Exhibits, the provisions in this Agreement shall prevail. 

 
6.30 CANCELLATION FOR CONFLICT OF INTEREST 
6.3.1 All parties hereto acknowledge that this Agreement is subject to cancellation for conflict of 
interest by the District pursuant to the provisions of §38-511, Arizona Revised Statutes. 

 
6.31 CONFIDENTIALITY OF PLANS & SPECIFICATIONS 
6.31.1 Any plans or specifications received by CMAR regarding the Project are for official use only. 
CMAR may not share them with others except as required to fulfill Agreement obligations with the District. 

 

ARTICLE 7 - INSURANCE 
 

CMAR shall procure and maintain for the duration of this Agreement, insurance against claims for injury to 
persons or damage to property which may arise from or in connection with the performance of the Work or 
Deliverables hereunder by CMAR, its agents, representatives, employees, Subconsultants, Subcontractors, 
and/or Suppliers. Insurance requirements related to any construction Work done during the design phase or 
during the construction phase shall be defined in a separate Agreement associated with the construction 
phase. CMAR shall cause all Subcontracts to contain identical terms and conditions to those included in this 
Article. 

 
The insurance requirements herein are minimum requirements for this Agreement and in no way limit the 
indemnity covenants that might arise out of the performance of the Work or Deliverables under this 
Agreement by CMAR, its agents, representatives, employees, Subconsultants, Subcontractors, or Suppliers 
and CMAR is free to purchase such additional insurance as it may determine necessary. 

 

7.1 MINIMUM SCOPE AND LIMITS OF INSURANCE 
7.1.1 CMAR shall provide coverage at least as broad and with limits of liability not less than those 
stated below. 

 
7.1.1.1 Commercial General Liability-Occurrence Form 

 

General Aggregate/per project $2,000,000/$1,000,000 
Products-Completed Operations Aggregate  $1,000,000 



30  

Each Occurrence $1,000,000 
 

7.1.1.2 Automobile Liability-Any Auto or Owned, Hired and Non-Owned Vehicles 
 

 

Combined Single Limit Per Accident $1,000,000 for 
Bodily Injury and Property Damage 

 

The policy shall be endorsed to include the following additional insured language: “Tubac Fire District 
shall be named as an additional insured with respect to liability arising out of the activities performed by, or 
on behalf of CMAR, including automobiles owned, leased, hired or borrowed by CMAR." 

 
7.1.1.3 Workers Compensation and Employers Liability 

 

The CMAR shall carry Workers’ Compensation insurance to cover obligations imposed by federal and state 
statutes. 

 
Additional Insured Status. The insurance coverage, except Workers’ Compensation, required by this 
Agreement, shall name the District, its agents, representatives, directors, officials, employees, and officers, 
as additional insured AND be accompanied by the required endorsement. Such evidence of additional 
insured status shall be subject to the approval of the Risk Management Department of the Tubac Fire District. 
The absence of acceptable insurance and endorsement shall be deemed a breach of this agreement. 

 

7.1.2 Self-Insured Retentions Any self-insured retentions and deductibles greater than $10,000 shall 
be declared to and approved by the District. 

 
7.2 OTHER INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 
7.2.1 The Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability policies are to contain, or be 
endorsed to contain, the following provisions: 

 

7.2.1.1 The District, its officers, officials, agents, and employees, are to be named as additional insureds 
with respect to liability arising out of: activities performed by or on behalf of CMAR, including the District’s 
general supervision of CMAR; products and completed operations of CMAR; and automobiles owned, leased, 
hired or borrowed by CMAR. 

 

7.2.1.2 The Commercial General Liability Insurance shall contain broad form contractual liability 
coverage and shall not exclude liability arising out of the explosion, collapse or underground hazard (“EXU”). 

 

7.2.1.3 The District, its officers, officials, agents, and employees shall be additional insureds to the full 
limits of liability purchased by CMAR, even if those limits of liability are in excess of those required by this 
Agreement. The Commercial General Liability additional insured endorsement shall be at least as broad as 
the Insurance Service Office, Inc.’s Additional Insured, Form B CG 20 10 11 85. 

 
7.2.2 CMAR’s insurance coverage shall be primary insurance with respect to the District, its officers, 



31  

officials, agents, and employees. Insurance or self-insurance maintained by the District, its officers, officials, 
agents, and employees shall be in excess of CMAR’s insurance and shall not contribute to it. 

 

7.2.3 CMAR’s insurance shall apply separately to each insured against whom claim is made or suit is 
brought, except with respect to the limits of the insurer’s liability. The coverage provided by CMAR and its 
Subcontractors shall not be limited to the liability assumed under the indemnification provisions of this 
Agreement. 

 

7.2.4 The policies shall contain a waiver of subrogation against the District, its officers, officials, 
agents, and employees for losses arising from Work performed for the District. 

 

7.2.5 Workers’ Compensation and Employers Liability policies are to contain, or be endorsed to 
contain, the following: The insurer shall agree to waive all rights of subrogation against the District, its 
officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses arising from work performed for the District. 

 
7.3 SUBCONSULTANT INSURANCE 
7.3.1 CMAR’s certificate(s) shall include all Subcontractors as insureds under its policies. All coverages 
for Subcontractors shall be subject to the minimum requirements identified above. 

 
7.4 NOTICE OF CANCELLATION 
7.4.1 Each insurance policy required by the insurance provisions of this Agreement shall provide the 
required coverage and not be suspended, voided, canceled by either party, reduced in coverage or in limits 
except after thirty (30) days prior written notice has been given, by certified mail, return receipt requested 
to: 

 

Ben Guerrero, Fire Chief 
Tubac Fire District 
2227 East Frontage Road 
Tubac, AZ 85646 

 

7.5 ACCEPTABILITY OF INSURERS 
7.5.1 Insurance is to be placed with insurers duly licensed companies in the State of Arizona, and with 
an A.M. Best’s rating of no less than A-,7, or as approved by the District and licensed in the State of Arizona 
with policies and forms satisfactory to the District. The District in no way warrants that the above required 
minimum insurer rating is sufficient to protect CMAR from potential insurer insolvency. 

 

7.6 VERIFICATION OF COVERAGE 
7.6.1 CMAR shall furnish the District, Certificates of Insurance (ACORD form or equivalent approved 
by the District) with original endorsements effecting coverage as required by this Agreement. The certificates 
and endorsements for each insurance policy are to be signed by a person authorized by that insurer to bind 
coverage on its behalf. Any policy endorsement(s) that restricts or limits coverages shall be clearly noted on 
the Certificate of Insurance. 

 
7.6.2 All certificates and endorsements are to be received and approved by the District before work 
commences. Each insurance policy required by this Agreement shall be in effect at or prior to the earlier of 



32  

commencement of work under this Agreement or signing of this Agreement, and remain in effect for the 
duration of the Project. Failure to maintain the insurance policies as required by this Agreement or to provide 
evidence of renewal shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement. 

 

7.6.3 All Certificates of Insurance required by this Agreement shall be sent directly to the Contracts 
Division. The Project Number and Project description shall be included on the Certificates of Insurance. The 
District reserves the right to require complete, certified copies of all insurance policies required by this 
Agreement at any time. 

 

7.7 APPROVAL 
7.7.1 Any modification or variation from the insurance requirements in this Agreement shall be 
approved by the District, whose decision shall be final. Such action shall not require a formal Agreement 
amendment, but may be made by administrative action. 

 
This Agreement shall be in full force and effect only when it has been approved and executed by the duly 
authorized District officials. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement on this   day of  , 
2024. 

 

TUBAC FIRE DISTRICT  , CMAR 
 
 

By:  By:  
 

 

Title:   Title:  
 

 

ATTEST: 
 
 

 

 
 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 

 

 

District Legal Representative 



33  

EXHIBIT A – PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
Following is a brief description of the Project for which the pre-construction phase service services 
specified in this Agreement are to be performed: 

 

Design an approximately 9,000 square foot fire station with three equipment apparatus bays in general 
accordance with the conceptual plan shown below at 2227 East Frontage Road in Tubac Arizona. 

 



34  

 



35  

EXHIBIT B – HOURLY RATE SCHEDULE 
The schedule of hourly labor rates for employees of CMAR and its Subconsultants follow and are based on 
the approved proposal submitted to the District on  . 

 

LIST OF CLASSIFICATIONS: 
 

Classification Direct Labor Rate Total Labor Rate 



36  

EXHIBIT C - SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS FOR THE GMP 
GMP proposal(s) Submittals; one (1) copy for review, eight (8) copies shall be requested by the District’s 
Project Representative prior to Agreement execution. The eight (8) copies shall be punched and bound. 

 

Table of Contents: 
1. Scope of Work 
2. Summary of the GMP 
3. Schedule of Values – summary spreadsheet and backup documents 
4. List of Plans and Specifications used for GMP Proposal 
5. List of clarification and assumptions 
6. Project Master Schedule 
7. MBE/WBE Requirements / Utilization Form / Letter of Intent 

 

1. Scope of work shall consist of a brief description of the work to be performed by CMAR and major 
points that CMAR and the District shall be aware of pertaining to the scope. 

 

2. A summary of the GMP with a total for each of the components of the GMP as listed in its definition 
in Article 1 as shown in the table below: 

 

The general condition fee includes bond and insurance cost. All costs should be listed individually for future 
use. 

 
PROJECT #: DATE: 
PROJECT NAME: 

 

 
GMP Summary AMOUNT 

A. Cost of the Work (Labor, Materials, Equipment, Warranty) $ 

INDIRECT COSTS RATE  

B. CMAR’s Contingency % $ 

C. Construction Fee % $ 

D. General Conditions % $ 
 D1 Payment and Performance Bond $ %  
 D2 Insurance $ %  

E. Sales Taxes % $ 
  

F. TOTAL GMP 
 
$ 

  
G. Owner’s Contingency 

 
$ 

 

Formulas: 
Total GMP: A+B+C+D+E = F 

 
Rates (Percentages) are calculated by dividing each amount by F, such as B/F, D/F, and D1/F (Do not 
acquire bond or insurance until notified by the District’s Project Representative.) 



37 
 

3. Schedule of Values - spreadsheet with the estimated cost organized by sub-agreement categories, 
allowances, bid contingency, general conditions costs, taxes, bonds, insurances, and CMAR’s construction 
phase fee. The supporting document for the spreadsheet shall be provided in an organized manner that 
correlates with the schedule of values. The backup information shall consist of the request for bids, bids 
received, and clarification assumptions used for the particular bid item listed on the schedule of values, if 
applicable. 

 

4. A list of the Plans and Specifications with latest issuance date including all addenda used in 
preparation of the GMP proposal. (Date stamped and signed by Contractor) 

 

5. A list of the clarifications and assumptions made by CMAR in the preparation of the GMP proposal, 
to supplement the information contained in the documents. 

 
6. A Critical Path Method (CPM) diagram construction schedule. 

 
 

NOTE: The submittal package shall be kept as simple as possible all on 8 ½ x 11 sheets. Color or shading shall 
be kept to a minimum. If used, make sure the color or shading shall not affect the reproduction of the 
submittal in black and white. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The service agreement you are currently reviewing is a preliminary draft and is 
subject to potential changes before the final agreement is accepted. If you have 
any questions or require further clarification during this review process, please 

do not hesitate to reach out.



38  

 


	November Agenda
	10.23_1031_Monthly Financial Report
	Balance Sheet
	P&L
	P&L Graph
	Fleet
	Station
	Disbursements
	ADP1966.tmp
	Sheet1

	ADP54FA.tmp
	Sheet1

	ADP97B2.tmp
	October 2023
	Fiscal Year to Date Budget to Actual
	Percentage of Expenses Year to Date
	Cash Position

	ADP727.tmp
	Twelve Month Cash Flow

	ADP248E.tmp
	Sheet1


	November 2023 board ops report 
	Slide 1: Staff Report Tubac Fire Board November 2023
	Slide 2: October Emergency Responses
	Slide 3: October Emergency Responses By Station 
	Slide 4: Annual Emergency Responses
	Slide 5
	Slide 6: October Ambulance Transports by Destination 
	Slide 7: October Trends 
	Slide 8: Significant Calls
	Slide 9: Training  
	Slide 10: Public Education/Fire Prevention
	Slide 11
	Slide 12
	Slide 13

	Tubac Fire Distrcit CMAR RFQ



